Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Dissertations

Graduate College

12-2016

The Impact of Procedural Compliance to the Individualized Education Program Document on Student Achievement and Academic Benchmarks

Christine Robertson Western Michigan University, christinepsy@hotmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations

Part of the Special Education and Teaching Commons

Recommended Citation

Robertson, Christine, "The Impact of Procedural Compliance to the Individualized Education Program Document on Student Achievement and Academic Benchmarks" (2016). *Dissertations*. 2464. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/2464

This Dissertation-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





THE IMPACT OF PROCEDURAL COMPLIANCE TO THE INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM DOCUMENT ON STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT AND ACADEMIC BENCHMARKS

by

Christine Robertson

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education Special Education and Literacy Studies Western Michigan University December 2016

Doctoral Committee:

Kristal Ehrhardt, Ph.D., Chair Sarah Summy, Ed.D. Dennis McCrumb, Ed.D.

THE IMPACT OF PROCEDURAL COMPLIANCE TO THE INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM DOCUMENT ON STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT AND ACADEMIC BENCHMARKS

Christine Robertson, Ed.D.

Western Michigan University, 2016

Currently, the practice of special education service delivery is undergoing a transformation. This transformation is largely due to the United State Department of Education Office of Special Education's current framework of "results driven accountability" for the determination of program effectiveness (USDOE, 2011). Since the inception of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) more than 40 years ago, students with disabilities have been provided increasing access to general educational programs and curriculum. Academic outcomes for those same students, however, have not improved, and the achievement gap between students with and without disabilities continues to widen when measured on national and statewide assessments. Mearman (2012) suggests this widening may be due in part to the focus on procedural adherence and compliance to IDEA and state "process" regulations in lieu of an emphasis on student academic outcomes and accountability measures. Many of those procedural requirements are prescribed in the document that outlines the special education programs and services to be delivered to the student, the Individual Education Program, also known as the IEP.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the relationship between the IEP document and student achievement outcomes as measured by required state "high stakes" assessments. Although previous investigations have shown that there is little connection between the content of the IEP and a teacher's instruction, this research examined whether an increase in procedural compliance to state standards in the IEP document positively influenced student performance on statewide assessments (LaSalle, Roach, & McGrath, 2013; Lynch & Beare, 1990). The results determined there was little impact, if any, between student outcome data and conformity to compliance standards based on IDEA rules and regulations. These results have implications for multidisciplinary team focus when preparing IEPs.

© 2016 Christine Robertson

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My favorite author, Ernest Hemingway, wrote, "There is nothing to writing. All you do is sit down at a typewriter and bleed." From agonizing over every word I've written to calculating statistics with complicated formulas, composing this document has been a challenging, laborious, and rewarding endeavor!

There are many I need to thank and to whom I owe a significant amount of gratitude for allowing and encouraging me to get to this terminal experience.

To Western Michigan University. You have given me a place to find what I was meant to do—twice. Both the school psychology program and the special education department have allowed me to grow in ways both personal and professional, that I myself did not think I was capable of. Having called myself a Bronco for two decades, WMU has provided me the foundation to positively influence the people and organizations I've been fortunate to be part of and know.

To my doctoral committee. Thank you to Drs. McCrumb and Summy for your willingness to serve and guide. Your influence on educators and practitioners is wide and deep. Special thanks to Dr. Ehrhardt, who I have known since I arrived on this campus over 20 years ago. I would not be here were it not for your belief in me, your mentoring, your modeling, and mostly your friendship. You have been a constant and influential presence in my life.

To the dedicated educators I know and love. I am constantly motivated by teachers, principals, administrators, custodians, bus drivers, and assistants that have dedicated their lives to those of students. There are so many.

ii

Acknowledgments—Continued

To the students. I hope I have lived up to my mission that ALL students will learn.

To my parents. They taught me to dream big and believe I could do anything. Education is valued and prized in their home, and their encouragement of a child who loved books and learning is something I absolutely treasure.

To my husband, Scott. This endeavor and accomplishment would not have been possible without you. Your unconditional love and support made this daunting task seem doable even during the times I felt like I had no idea what I was doing or what to do next. Your selflessness can never be repaid.

To my daughter Madeline. This was always and only for you.

Christine Robertson

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	1
Historical Context	1
History of Results	4
NAEP	7
Michigan Educational Assessment Program	9
Results Matter	11
Procedural Compliance	13
History of Compliance	14
Part B State Performance Plan	17
Compliance Matters	
Connecting Results and Compliance	
The IEP	21
The Impact of IEP Compliance on Student Outcomes	24
II. METHOD	
Research Focus	
Setting and Participants	

Table of Contents—Continued

CHAPTER

Apparatus			
Procedures			
Phase 1: Baseline			
Phase 2: Training			
Phase 3: Maintenance			
Inter-rater Reliability			
Data Analysis			
III. RESULTS			
Compliance			
Results			
Outcomes			
IV. DISCUSSION	47		
Compliance	47		
Academic Achievement Outcomes	49		
Limitations	53		
Conclusion	55		
REFERENCES	57		
APPENDICES			
A. Letter of Support	69		
B. State Performance Plan	71		

Table of Contents—Continued

APPENDICES

C.	Sample Student Record Review	. 73
D.	MEAP and MME Score Catergories and Scale Score Ranges	. 79
E.	Linking Study	. 83
F.	IEP Goal Checklist	. 85
G.	MDE Recommended IEP Goal Form	. 87
H.	HSIRB Approval	. 89

LIST OF TABLES

1.	National Assessment of Educational Progress 2013 (NCES, 2013)	6
2.	Michigan Educational Assessment Program 2013 (MDE, 2013)	6
3.	Phase 1: Baseline	31
4.	Phase 2: Training	33
5.	Phase 3: Maintenance	34
6.	IEP Compliance Comparison Between Baseline and Training Phases	39
7.	IEP Compliance Comparison Between Training and Maintenance Phases	40
8.	Student Achievement Proficiency Ratios	41
9.	Frequency of Rating	46

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Comparison of percentage of compliant IEPs in baseline and training phases
2.	Comparison of percentage of compliant IEPs in training and maintenance phases 38
3.	Proficiency ratio means for math and reading in all three compliance phases

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

It has been more than 40 years since the enactment of Public Law 94-142, landmark legislation also known as the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA or EHA). In 1975, EAHCA provided access to public education for all students, including students with disabilities, where there had once been exclusion and segregation. It significantly impacted the manner in which public schools and communities delivered education and services to students with disabilities. At the time, it was estimated that between 1 and 4 million students with disabilities were excluded from or were considerably underserved by public school agencies (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). Students with disabilities often were not allowed through the school door, and if they were, services and supports to meet their learning needs were frequently unidentified and unmet. In the 40-year span since the inception of this legislation, the initial law has been amended three times and the number of students served by EAHCA and the subsequent Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) has swelled to more than 6.5 million (IES-NCES, 2016).

Historical Context

There were four key purposes to the pioneering legislation of EAHCA, one of which was to "assess and assure the effectiveness of efforts to educate all children with disabilities" (U.S. Department of Education, 2010, p. 12). From the outset, program evaluation and accountability were included in the legislative design. In an overview of the new legislation given to a state-level curricular board at the time, Jeffery Zettel (1977) noted:

P.L. 94-142 establishes the mandate that the state educational agency shall be responsible for assuring that all of the requirements of this act will be carried out.

Finally, the law stipulates that the U.S. Commissioner must evaluate the impact

of this act on an annual basis and provide a full report to the Congress..." (p. 12) The other three purposes of the law, as it was defined, also included the provision of free and appropriate public education for all children regardless of disability; the protection of student and parent rights, including the right to due process; and support to state and local educational agencies (U.S. Department of Education, 2010).

Although a provision for ascertaining the *impact* of education services offered to students with disabilities was included in the initial legislation, it appears that *access* to the educational setting became the priority at the time of enactment. This was most likely due to the exclusion of an estimated 1 to 4 million students from the public educational setting prior to the passage of P.L. 94-142 (20 USCS 1401, B(1)). Because of the massive building and re-structuring necessary to develop programs for all students regardless of disability status, focus went to *ensuring access* rather than *evaluating the quality* of the educational programing offered to students with disabilities. School districts across the nation had to first focus on resource allocation, staff training, and the provision of educational services developed in the Individualized Education Program (IEP) for students with disabilities. Educational benefit or progress was not a focal area early on in the implementation process, even as it was stated in the second part of IDEA regulation, Part B, that " a statistically valid survey for assessing the effectiveness of individualized educational programs" shall be conducted (20 USCS 1418, E(2)a).

The Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA) was reauthorized as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) in 1990 and 1997, and as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) in 2004. With each reauthorization, the focus of the law shifted somewhat away from solely providing for basic access to an education toward creating opportunities for improved academic achievement among students with disabilities. One indication that there would be an increased emphasis on student outcomes was the extraction of accountability and program evaluation from Part B of the EAHCA into a whole section of its own into the final section of IDEA Part D. In 1997, this section of the legislation noted: "The Congress finds the following: (1) States are responding with some success to multiple pressures to improve educational and transitional services and results for children with disabilities in response to growing demands" (20 USCS 1450, sec. 651, (a) (1)). The amendments now included a more systemic way for the federal, state, and local educational agencies to identify and track data related to student outcomes and improving academic and educational results for students with disabilities.

In the 40 years since the enactment and amendments of this original legislation, the metrics or benchmarks for educational effectiveness have not been clearly defined or measured. It was not until the reauthorization of 1997 that the notion of assessing the effectiveness of special education programming from the initial legislation was revisited. In the revised Part D of IDEA (1997), student achievement is introduced as a way to determine success of students with disabilities. It states:

an effective educational system now and in the future must --

- A. maintain high academic standards and clear performance goals for children with
- B. disabilities, consistent with the standards and expectations for all students in the educational system, and provide for appropriate and effective strategies and methods to ensure that students who are children with disabilities have maximum opportunities to achieve those standards and goals;

- C. create a system that fully addresses the needs of all students, including children with disabilities, by addressing the needs of children with disabilities in carrying out educational reform activities;
- D. clearly define, in measurable terms, the school and post-school results that children with disabilities are expected to achieve; " (20 USCS 1450, sec. 651, (6)).

In the Improvement Act of 2004, the aforementioned section remained. However, the most recent modification of this law also includes a section on improving "academic achievement," as well as performance on "regular statewide assessments" (20 USCS 1464, p. 336). State and local education agencies now have more definitive language with which to target improvements for students with disabilities. Via the mandated State Performance Plan, school districts annually report outcomes on 20 measures, including proficiency rates on regular and alternative statewide assessments.

Since the inception of the inaugural legislation mandating special education in the United States, there has been a shift from simply providing special education services, toward measuring the effectiveness of the those services with the expectation that there is some educational benefit garnered to the students receiving them. This paradigm of Results Driven Accountability, or RDA as it is referred to, as a tool for measuring the impact of special education programming and services instead of mere compliance with both federal and state education laws and regulations supports the original intent of IDEA concerning measuring and improving outcomes for students with disabilities (U.S. Department of Education, 2014).

History of Results

The Results Driven Accountability framework was developed at the federal level as a response to chronic and consistent underachievement for students with disabilities (Delisle &

Yudin, 2014). Many policymakers and educators have begun to acknowledge the *achievement gap;* that is, the difference in performance on achievement measures between students with disabilities in comparison to students without disabilities (Anderson, Medrich, & Fowler, 2007). So, while IDEA provided equal access to the public school environment for individuals with disabilities, it may be argued, given the current outcomes, that education may not yet be equitable.

Starting with the most current data on both statewide and national proficiency assessments, students with disabilities are significantly underachieving when compared to their same-aged peers. On the National Assessment of Education Progress (NAEP), this becomes apparent. The NEAP is a standardized assessment tool in grades 4, 8, and 12 that is given throughout the country to provide a representative sample in which to determine benchmark data (NCES, 2011). Although there are a number of subjects that might be assessed, results are published for mathematics, reading, science, and writing (NCES, 2011). In a nationwide data snapshot focusing on 4th and 8th-grade reading and mathematics levels in 2013, students with disabilities were behind their non-disabled peers up to as much as 30 percent (see Table 1).

The gap as measured by the NAEP begins to be documented at 4th-grade and increases by the time students are in 8th-grade. In looking at the national percentiles, the majority of students in general are not meeting proficiency standards; however, merely 1 to 2 of 10 students with disabilities nationwide are meeting the proficient benchmark in either reading or mathematics. This pattern continues when reviewing statewide data for the same year. Students attending school in Michigan from the 1969-1970 to the 2013-14 school year took the Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) annually from grades 3 to 9. Comparing the same grades as the NEAP, 4th and 8th-grades, again students with disabilities lagged significantly behind their peers on the MEAP as well (see Table 2).

Table 1

National Assessment of Educational Progress 2013 (NCES, 2013)

	% of Students with Disabilities at Proficiency and Advanced Levels	% of Students without Disabilities at Proficiency and Advanced Levels	Achievement Gap Between Students with and without Disabilities
4th-grade Math	18%	45%	27% point gap
8th-grade Math	8%	39%	31% point gap
4th-grade Reading	11%	38%	27% point gap
8th-grade Reading	9%	40%	31% point gap

Table 2

Michigan Educational Assessment Program 2013 (MDE, 2013)

	% of Students with Disabilities at Proficiency and Advanced Levels	% of Students without Disabilities at Proficiency and Advanced Levels	Achievement Gap Between Students with and without Disabilities
4th-grade Math	23%	46%	23% point gap
8th-grade Math	7%	35%	28% point gap
4th-grade Reading	38%	68%	30% point gap
8th-grade Reading	26%	66%	30% point gap

Not only do the gaps between the students with disabilities and those students without disabilities get wider as the students get older, but the scores for students with disabilities also decrease in later grades compared to their same grade peers based on inspection of this data. This trend persisted from almost a decade prior. In an article published by *Education Week* with

support by the Pew Charitable Foundation, Lynn Olson (2004) reported, "30 of the 39 states that provided complete data had an achievement gap between special education and general education students on 4th grade reading tests of 30 percentage points or more" (p. 13). There were some states with a gap larger than 50 percentage points. For that same year, 8th-grade reading fared worse, with only five states having an achievement gap between students with and without disabilities that was less than 30 percentage points: Michigan, Mississippi, Nebraska, South Carolina and Texas (Olson, 2004).

As alarming as the achievement gap may be, at least it can be measured. In the years prior to the 1997 revisions to IDEA, students with disabilities were not often considered a subgroup for which data could be obtained. Therefore, systemic national comparisons are difficult with data much earlier than 2004. This is true of state assessments as well in the state of Michigan. Prior to 2004, there was little outcome data that measured student achievement for students, and even less for students with disabilities. Although a study conducted by researchers at Harvard University advocated that, "comparisons of academic performance before and after placement into special education provide much better programmatic effects than cross-sectional data" (Hanushek, Kain, & Rivkin, 1998, p. 2), it is difficult to ignore the large-scale data that has been obtained, and the stark contrast between the results for students with and without disabilities.

NAEP

The National Assessment of Educational Progress is one assessment program that provides extensive and expansive information on student achievement in the United States. Described as "the largest nationally representative and continuing assessment of what America's students know and can do in various subject areas," the NAEP has been administered to students since 1969 (Campbell, Voelkl, & Donahue, 1997, p. 17). Initially, students were assessed in mathematics, reading, and science periodically, until 1990 when the United State Department of Education initiated a process to compare student scores from different states to one another (Grissmer, Flanagan, Kawata, & Williams, 2000). Doing this allowed researchers and school reformers to analyze student achievement data across states, regions, demographics, and subgroups. Students were tested in mathematics, reading, and science, as well as in writing and geography on an established schedule (NCES, 2011). Examining relationships between data obtained from the NAEP and emerging educational trends such as teacher-student ratios was possible for policymakers with a standardized process for national assessment administration. Of note, however, is the practice of allowing "non-participation" for students with disabilities, as well as non-native English speaking students, when obtaining the initial nationwide samples (Grissmer et al., 2000).

Studies done by the National Center for Educational Statistics as well as independent researchers show variations between state and NAEP expectations on what is considered proficient (NCES, 2013; Schafer, Liu, & Wang, 2007). In a study conducted as part of the Harvard University Civil Rights Project, researchers found "the percentages of students meeting or exceeding the proficiency standard in both reading and math were, on average, twice as large, and in some cases, even larger, on state assessments than on the NAEP" (Lee & Orfield, 2006). This includes Michigan as well. Michigan school code requires that districts either "administer each school year to all pupils in grades 1 to 5 a nationally-recognized norm-referenced test or participate in the NAEP if selected" (MDE, 2000, p. 1). This is in addition to the mandated annual statewide assessment, the Michigan Educational Assessment Program.

Michigan Educational Assessment Program

The Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) was also initiated in 1969, and continued on an annual basis until the summer of 2014 when the legislature required that the education department discontinue the use of the MEAP and develop a new annual statewide assessment (Petty, 2015). According to the Michigan Department of Education, the MEAP is a criterion-referenced assessment for elementary, middle, and high school students in English Language Arts, including reading, mathematics, science, and social studies (MDE, 2010). For secondary students, the commercially published ACT, ACT Plan, and ACT Explore are utilized as the assessment tool administered annually. As a criterion-referenced assessment, the MEAP measures student performance against a defined standard: the Michigan grade-level content standards (MDE, 2010). Thus, the scores are to be used as an indicator for students, parents, and educators as a measure of success or proficiency toward meeting the established grade-level standards. MEAP scores are divided into four categories that describe levels towards proficiency: Advanced, Proficient, Partially Proficient, and Not Proficient (MDE, 2011). The four descriptors can be further divided into two categories, with Advanced and Proficient demonstrating that the student's performance *met* the grade level standards, while partially and not proficient indicates the bar was *not met* for achieving the grade level standards. The ACT, ACT Plan, and ACT Explore provide a benchmark score for each of the following subjects; English, Reading, Mathematics, and Science and has a similar interpretation that the student either met or did not meet the established standard for that grade level

In the *MEAP Guide to Reports*, a technical manual published by the MDE, test items and scoring are described (MDE, 2011). According to the guide, there are "two types of items on the MEAP: Multiple Choice (MC) items and Constructed Response (CR) items" from which scores

are derived (MDE, 2011, p. 6). For the multiple choice responses, the student selects an answer from a group of options. Only one is considered correct and earns the student a point if answered accurately. Constructed responses require the students to write multiple sentences, paragraphs, or an essay in response to a prompt. These items are scored utilizing a rubric from which the student can earn from 0 to 3 points on the response (MDE, 2011). A total score, or raw score, is obtained for the subject. As described by McGlinchey and Hixson (2004), "raw scores are converted to scaled scores... but 'cut scores' are based on raw scores..." (p. 197). Scaled scores are then divided into the performance levels described above. Beginning in 2011, MEAP proficiency score levels were reestablished by MDE since "prior cut scores represented a more basic level of achievement needed for the old manufacturing economy. As a result...cut scores are then reported for individuals, as well as in summary reports for schools, districts, and ISDs.

With increasing emphasis placed on scores from statewide assessments like the MEAP for policy decisions, educators and advocacy groups requested assurances that the assessments accurately measure students' skills. A performance audit of the MEAP was commissioned in 1999 by the Michigan Department of Treasury (MDT) (MDT, 1999). From that audit, the MDT provided conclusions and recommendations to the MDE regarding the "potential for improving effectiveness and efficiency... of the MEAP mission to develop the best possible assessments of student academic knowledge and skills" (MDT, 1999, p. 2). Among the audit findings was an issue with reliability. The technical adequacy of the MEAP overall was found to be sufficient; however, the audit found that for some portions of the MEAP high school tests, reliability coefficients were lower than expectations for adequacy or were not even reported by the

Technical Advisory Committee (MDT, 1999). Subsequently, the Michigan Association of School Psychologists (MASP) published a position statement regarding the use of the MEAP around the same time as the MDT audit. The MASP echoed the MDT in describing the issues with reliability and consistency for some MEAP sections (MASP, 2004). The authors also outlined additional issues that were not addressed in the MDT audit report. One issue was the omission of subgroups from the data (MASP, 2004). Only grade-based MEAP data were initially reported. Another issue examined in the MASP position statement was validity. Although the MDT audit assumed technical adequacy including validity in the MEAP development, the MASP position concluded that the validity procedures were not comprehensive enough and only considered content validity (MASP, 2004).

Expansion for the requirements for the administration of the MEAP due to No Child Left Behind legislation prompted some alterations in MDE practice regarding the assessment. A technical report was published in 2011. It addressed items from both the MDT audit and the MASP position paper regarding the MEAP, and contained multiple chapters dedicated to test development, administration, and technical properties of criterion-referenced assessments (MDE, 2011). More technical and sophisticated statistical analyses were conducted on the MEAP throughout the process, from convening a committee to address test biases, to scaling and conducting more than one type of validity analysis. The MDE also devoted a chapter to understanding and utilizing MEAP scoring data as a part of the No Child Left Behind accountability system for all students, including students with disabilities (MDE, 2011).

Results Matter

Students in general education with no identified disabilities are making progress towards critical educational benchmark standards such as a proficient reading levels or graduation rates,

as well as realizing post-secondary school goals. Students with disabilities appear to be significantly behind their peers in meeting the same benchmarks (Reschly & Christenson, 2006). The common case made in supporting this disparate data is that students identified with a disability are bound to score or achieve behind their peers since they have a disability that prevents them from learning at grade level. However, both the reauthorization of IDEA in 1997 and on January 8, 2002, the most recent update to the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, named No Child Left Behind (NCLB) in 2002 regulations, included provisions for students with disabilities to be included in district accountability plans, which included statewide assessments (U.S. Department of Education, 2011). These two acts provided a shift in philosophy that students with disabilities would be expected to be measured against their sameaged peers and grade-level standards. Initial responses from various stakeholders decried the higher expectations. School officials were concerned that, "high stakes tests may have a disproportionate impact on students with disabilities.... the potential for pushing students out, for scapegoating students, for identifying these students as the reason that a school or a district isn't measuring up" (Frieden, 2004, p. 6).

Many more advocates, educators, and parents, however, saw this as another means for the inclusion of students with disabilities. They would now be counted and academic skills would be measured, just as their general education peers. Other proponents saw the revised IDEA, in tandem with NCLB, as the vehicle to transform the culture of low expectation for students with disabilities. In fact, a letter written on behalf of the United States Department of Education by Deborah S. Delisle, the Assistant Secretary for Elementary and Secondary Education, and Michael Yudin, Acting Assistant Secretary for Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, outlines for state school officials that most students with disabilities have the cognitive skills to meet grade level standards (U.S. Department of Education, 2014).

With higher expectations and increased accountability from the revision of IDEA and the adoption of NCLB, schools now had to report on achievement scores, progress, and evidencebased practices. States and local school districts had to understand summative data and the implications of it for subgroups, such as students with disabilities (Frieden, 2004). Recent updates of both laws, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA) in 2004, and the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) in 2015, reinforce the emphasis on outcomes for students with disabilities. In the introduction of the regulation, President Barak Obama notes, "We will set a clear goal: Every student should graduate from high school ready for college and a career, regardless of their income, race, ethnic or language background, or disability status" (U.S. Department of Education, 2011, p. 3). Given the trending data that is now being examined for students with disabilities, as well as the continued expectations for increasing the outcomes for students with disabilities, the oft-neglected tenant, *program impact*, of the original Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA) will have a renewed focus with results driven accountability.

Procedural Compliance

The shift to results driven accountability "brings into focus the educational results and functional outcomes for children with disabilities" (U.S. Department of Education, 2014). For states and local school districts, it is important to note that for the better part of 40 years of IDEA, procedural compliance and process was that focus. There are a number of reasons for this historical emphasis. The first reason is that IDEA and its predecessor EAHCA have numerous procedures and criteria to abide by. There are over 1,700 pages in the latest version of IDEA and

over 814 procedural requirements (NICCYD, 1994). Embedded in those pages are rules and regulations that contribute to a punctilious response by educators concerned about due process hearings, mediation, and state audits if they do not follow them. The second factor is that local education agencies and states focused for so long on access to general education curriculum and environments. There are now more than 6 million students receiving special education programming and services under IDEA (OSERS, 2014). In the 40 years since the implementation of IDEA, the law more than tripled the number of students with disabilities served in public schools. Only in the recent revisions did the focus of this legislation move from access to outcome. Finally, a landmark Supreme Court case solidified attention to procedural compliance in special education practice. In Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District, Westchester County, et al., Petitioners v. Amy Rowley, by her parents, Rowley et al. Respondent in 1982 (No. 80-1002), the Supreme Court significantly influenced the interpretation of IDEA by defining a Free and Appropriate Public Education as including procedural adherence.

History of Compliance

The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act and subsequent revisions have all included provisions dedicated to procedures and safeguards that ensure compliance to the regulations within the Act. This was to establish adherence to the law in order to protect the rights of students with disabilities to a Free and Appropriate Public Education (EAHCA, 1974). From the student-level compliance standards of the Individualized Education Program document, to the requirement of a state level plan to exhibit compliance to IDEA, education agencies are monitored to assure they are meeting the specifications of the law.

Within the IEP document and process, there are specific components discreetly described in the regulations. The regulation defines a component of a free and appropriate public education as "a written statement for each handicapped child developed in any meeting... of specially designed instruction to meet the unique needs of handicapped children..." (EAHCA, 1974, 89 STAT. 776). These include items such as statements related to student goals or services they will receive. Because Congress included some explicit definitions for the provision of special education services, the opportunity to monitor whether local education agencies complied with those expectations became possible. In a study released by the National Association of State Directors of Special Education, Judy Schrag (1998) described this IDEA implementation phase as the "analytic phase" (p. 10). The emphasis of both research and practice was focused on "procedural compliance and incorporation of required IEP components/process" with respect to IDEA (Schrag, 1998, p. 10). Within this time period subsequent to the initial passage of the law, multiple studies were completed to determine the efforts by states to meet the requirements of IDEA. Most found issues with IEP development and the exclusion of necessary components, making them non-compliant (Anderson 1978; Nadler & Shore, 1980; Schneck, 1980). Required information such as goals and objectives or the mandated participation of certain team members were missing from IEPs (Reiher, 1992). From the outset of the initial enactment of EAHCA, it appears that compliance with the outlined and expected components was inconsistent.

Each revision of IDEA only added to the inconsistencies described above, as subsequent amendments increased additional requirements to both the IEP and to the regulations. In the 1990 revision to IDEA, transition planning was incorporated into the IEP, for example. Every IEP for a student 16 years or older now had to include activities and services related to postsecondary interests and needs (Kohler & Field, 2003). The revision in 1997 layered more requirements onto existing ones. For IEP teams, a general education teacher became a requisite member as part of the process (Schrag & Ahearn, 1998). Assistive communication services and supports also needed consideration as a part of the IEP. In addition, students with disabilities were expected to be included in state and district wide assessments. The Improvement Act of 2004 added emphasis on annual measureable IEP goals, as well as increased transition activities. These are all examples of expanded compulsory items to the IEP document and process with each amendment of IDEA, creating additional expectations for educators.

With expanded expectations at the IEP level for local educational agencies, state education departments also increased their means and tools for IDEA compliance oversight. From the inception of the EAHCA, the law has included the provision "for procedures for evaluation at least annually of the effectiveness of programs in meeting the educational needs of handicapped children (including evaluation of individualized education programs)" (89 STAT. 784). Each state receiving federal funding for the administration and implementation of this law was required to annually report on its progress to Congress. This has evolved to what is now called a State Performance Plan in IDEA 2004 (Klotz & Nealis, 2005). This plan, according to the Office of Special Education Programs, "evaluates the State's efforts to implement the requirements and purposes of the IDEA, and describes how the State will improve its implementation" (OSEP, 2016). It consists of 20 indicators that measure monitoring priorities to increase compliance and results for students with disabilities (Appendix B). The indicator is either "met" or "not met" based on a data source, baseline data, and measurement using the same data source towards the indicator (NASDE, 2014). One indicator, for example, is student performance on statewide assessments. The proficiency rates of students with disabilities is measured and compared with a target as determined by the baseline data. From this state-level

data based on local education agency input, the federal government monitors the fidelity towards indicators and monitoring priorities related to IDEA.

Part B State Performance Plan

Since the inception of IDEA, annual reporting of compliance to the law has been required. The revision of IDEA in 2004 quantified and defined this mandate into the State Performance Plan. As noted, there are 20 indicators that constitute the monitoring priorities established by the Office of Special Education Programs (U.S. Department of Education, 2013). The monitoring priorities are specific groupings into which each of the 20 indicators corresponds: Free and Appropriate Public Education in the Least Restrictive Environment, disproportionality, and effective general supervision Part B (U.S. Department of Education, 2013). These priorities appear to be established by "Congress' expectation that SPPs, indicators, and targets be developed with broad stakeholder input and public dissemination" (OSEP, 2011, p. 3). For each of the three priorities, there are indicators and the metrics for determining performance and progress towards meeting said targets. The first eight indicators align to the FAPE in the LRE monitoring priority. These include targets for graduations rates of students with IEPs, dropout rates of students with IEPs, the educational environments of students with IEPs, participation and performance rates on statewide assessments for students with IEPs, suspension and expulsion rates for students with IEPs, as well as opportunities for facilitated parental participation in the IEP process (U.S. Department of Education, 2013). Many of these targets use measurements that compare students with IEPs in the context of their non-disabled peers as well. For example, Indicator 4 examines suspension and expulsion rates for students with IEPs. The target percentage is measured in comparison to the suspension and expulsion rates of non-disabled students to determine if there is a discrepancy between the two, and if

students with IEPs are suspended or expelled at a higher rate (U.S. Department of Education, 2013).

Indicators numbers 9 and 10 also analyze metrics and targets within the context of the greater school based population, but include a comparison of race and ethnicity. Each of these two indicators are in place to ensure improved practice, as baseline data showed a "disproportionate overrepresentation identified of racial and ethnic groups in special education and related services was the result of inappropriate identification" (U.S. Department of Education, 2013, p. 8). The final indicators, 11 through 20, measure general compliance to IDEA, including adhering to established timelines for special education eligibility evaluations, developing a transition plan as a part of the IEP for students 14 years and older, and tracking IEPs that are contested or mediated (U.S. Department of Education, 2013).

As previously mentioned, per the State Performance Plan, each state is expected to include data regarding annual assessments required for accountability reporting under Title I of the ESEA. Indicator 3 addresses both the rate that students with IEPs participate in statewide assessments such as the MEAP, as well as the performance of students with IEPs on that statewide assessment. Both parts of the indicator are reported as percentages. In Michigan, scores from the MEAP were reported until 2014. Students then began taking a replacement assessment, the M-Step in 2015, when the Common Core State Standards were introduced (MDE, 2014).

Compliance Matters

The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act is a law, and with any law, the expectation is that it will be followed. However, IDEA is also a complex law (Yell, Shriner, & Katsiyannis, 2006). Maintaining compliance to it can be challenging for local and state

educational agencies. For the most current data reported by the Office of Special Education Programs, the majority of states in the country do not meet the requirements as determined by the annual performance report (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). The implications for noncompliance to components of IDEA can be significant and costly. School districts may face financial sanctions or lawsuits for not following the law or meeting state targets.

In regards to the state accountability plans and reporting to the federal education offices, there are no rewards, but there are potential funding consequences. For states not meeting requirements as targeted on the State Performance Plan over three consecutive years, a financial penalty could be sanctioned (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). States falling below the indicator targets could also receive significant federal intervention and increased reporting on a corrective action plan or agreement. These require local educational agencies to allocate time and additional resources to such compliance activities.

Another reason for school district and educator focus on procedural compliance to IDEA is because of due process hearings and court cases. In the decade beginning in 2000, there were over 2,000 due process hearings annually in the United States (Zirkel & Gischlar, 2008). A longitudinal study done by Blackwell and Blackwell (2015) disaggregating due process hearing data from one state over the course of close to a decade, found the most frequent issue litigated was related to the development and content of the IEP. This created a culture for those authoring an IEP to pay more attention to "crossing the t's and dotting the i's." Professional journals published articles like the one written by Katsiyannis and Herbst (2004) titled, "Minimize Litigation in Special Education." In it, they encouraged educators to be "familiar with and knowledgeable about procedural guidelines to ensure a free and appropriate public education (FAPE)..." (p. 106). This was for good reason, as the average cost for a school district

associated with a due process hearing reached \$15,924 in 2013 (Pudelski, 2013). An attorney representing school districts in Michigan noted, "the best defense to any claim is very careful attention to procedure...you had better follow procedure rigidly, or you program could be derailed down the road" (Duff, 2001, p. 154).

As mentioned, the Supreme Court of the United States weighed in on this topic in 1982. Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District, Westchester County, et al., Petitioners v Rowley et al. Respondent (No. 80-1002) gave guidance to the field of special education by providing what is referred to as the two-pronged Rowley standard. The first question the Supreme Court posed when addressing this case was "Has the State complied with the procedures set forth in the Act?" (458 US 176, 204). If this first cannot be answered by the district in the affirmative confirming that procedural compliance to IDEA has been met, then it may be considered a denial of FAPE.

Connecting Results and Compliance

The second question asked by the Supreme Court in the Rowley case was "Is the individualized education program developed through the Act's procedures reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational benefits?" (458 US 176, 204). So while the first question focused on *procedural* compliance, the second question focused on *substantive* compliance. This shifts the focus from solely assuring adherence to the legal requirements of IDEA to addressing essential content within the IEP that will likely result in educational benefit for the student (Hersh & Johansen, 2007). Although educational benefit was not explicitly defined by the Supreme Court, they did point back to the statute of IDEA including the section that stated instruction should both meet the State's educational standards and approximate the grade levels used in the State's regular education system. Since the Rowley decision, some

lower courts have included academic achievement assessment results as a measure of educational benefit as well (Johnson, 2003). The intent from the inception and with further judicial interpretation for IDEA was for students with disabilities to have access to general education *and* to receive a specialized, individualized education program that promotes growth. Currently, there lacks a depth of research in the field addressing relationships between state performance plans and instructional practice. A policymaker noted, "the problem isn't what's in IDEA, but rather, what has been enforced…the problem isn't IDEA—it's the implementation or enforcement of IDEA" (NCD, 2004, p. 22). Even with that, there is little study of the impact of procedural compliance on the graduation rates, achievement scores, grade point averages, employment rates, or college admissions for students with IEPs. In a study related to post-secondary outcomes, Erickson et al. (2014) stated, "despite IDEA's shift to an outcome-oriented ideology, there is a paucity of research on the outcomes of students with IEPs as a result of this shift" (p. 165).

The IEP

According to Stephen W. Smith (2000) in a guidance document for the Educational Resources Information Center Clearing House on Disabilities and Gifted Education, the Individualized Education Program is "the cornerstone of a quality education for each child with a disability" (p. 1). The IEP is the document in which the special education programming and services are outlined for the student, and is often referred to as the "heart and soul of the Individuals with Disabilities Act" (Bateman, 1995, p. 1). There are specific content expectations for the IEP document and process expectations for the IEP meeting (Kaufman & Hallahan, 2011). The IEP is a document which must include essential components as outlined by IDEA. Those components can be described in broad categories. The first category is current performance. In this area of the IEP, called the Present Level of Academic and Functional Performance, the impact of the disability on the student is described (U.S. Department of Education, 2000). This description often includes academic deficits, assessment data, classroom based observations, physical or social-emotional needs, and the area of disability. The current performance section of the IEP also describes how the disability interferes with the student's participation and progress in the general education setting and/or curriculum (U.S. Department of Education, 2000).

To address the needs identified in the Present Level of Academic and Functional Performance section of the IEP, the IEP must include the manner in which specialized instruction and instructional supports are to be provided to the student with a disability. There are a myriad of ways this can be implemented given the student's individualized need. Students may receive specialized classroom programming, related services, supplementary aids and services, or any combination of these means for special education provision. In addition, the IEP document must include the details of how often these services will be provided, the duration of the service and in what setting they will occur. Finally, measurable annual goals are included as an important aspect to the IEP. IEP goals are important in determining if the student is making adequate progress on the identified deficit areas (Capizzi, 2008). IDEA outlines the requirements for including goals in the IEP document as follows:

(2) (i) A statement of measurable annual goal, including academic and functional goals designed to—

(A) meet the child's needs that result from the child's disability to enable the child to be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum; and(B) Meet each of the child's other educational needs that result from the child's disability; (20 U.S.C. 1414(d)(1)(A)(i))

With that, Capizzi (2008) has outlined for providers the factors that make a goal measurable. These include: "(a) a specific description of the skill, (b) how the skill will be measured, and (c) against which progress will be measured" (p. 24). Additionally, in an U.S. Department of Education Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services "Dear Colleague" letter written on November 16, 2015, the requirement that IEP goals also be "aligned with grade-level content standards for all children with disabilities" was reiterated (p. 1).

There are also process expectations when authoring an IEP. An IEP is to be developed annually for students eligible for special education services, and the meeting is to be attended by a team of individuals who know and support the student with a disability. IDEA is specific about who the participants at a minimum should include. Besides educational professionals such as a general education teacher and an individual who can interpret evaluation results, the parent of the student with a disability is a required member of the IEP team. The IEP team collaborates to make decisions about placement options and the implementation of the IEP (U.S. Department of Education, 2000). If the IEP is not developed in accordance with IDEA to meet procedural and substantive compliance, then a denial of FAPE is likely for a student with a disability.

As important as the IEP is to the foundation of providing services and supports to a student with a disability, special educators have had and continue to have difficulty authoring compliant IEPs (Drasgow, Yell, & Robinson, 2001; Lipsky & Gartner, 1996). Errors described in multiple studies include not involving parents in meaningful ways, predetermination of special

education services, missing required team members, and not implementing the IEP as developed (Yell, Katsiyannis, Ennis, & Losinski, 2013). In addition, developing quality IEPs is also challenging for many educators. This would include composing goals that are considered measurable or aligned with the identified need of the student with a disability (Boavida, Aguiar, McWilliam, & Pimentel, 2010). A study by Etscheidt (2003) reported that districts struggled to develop IEPs that met all substantive requirements.

With that, given specific training to write quality and compliant IEPs, most special education providers can improve both in their daily practice (Pretti-Fontczak & Bricker, 2000). However, another team of educational researchers found that even when taught a rubric to assist teachers in writing compliant IEPs, teachers did not always meet IDEA requirements when writing them (Rosas, Winterman, Kroeger, & Jones, 2009).

The Impact of IEP Compliance on Student Outcomes

Currently, it appears there are few areas of special education where both procedural *and* substantive compliance coexist. In the field, procedural compliance seems to be the means and the end, while substantive compliance is an evolving endeavor, thanks in part to RDA. And, the research supports this notion. There are few investigations regarding the impact of procedural compliance, due process hearing outcomes, or State Performance Plans on student performance. In fact, there appears to be an assumption that increasing compliance on IEPs will actually result in improved outcomes (Erickson et al., 2014).

One research study completed in a Kentucky school district found a relationship between IEPs and program quality, but not with performance on academic assessments (Turner, Baldwin, Kleinert, & Kearns, 2000). Additionally, in an article for the School Superintendents Association related to special education compliance, the author, Sasha Pudelski (2013) noted,
there is no evidence demonstrating that successful challenges to an IEP in a due process hearing lead to marked improvements in the academic performance of students with disabilities or improvements to what the district was providing students originally. No research proves that students who take advantage of IDEA's due process provisions fare better academically after undertaking the hearing process. (p. 7)

Neither shows a relationship between compliance and student outcomes.

Another recent study conducted in the area of transition showed promising results related to increased compliance with State Performance Plan indicators, however. This study found that there was a positive relationship between the IEP compliance indicator for transition and the outcome indicator for postsecondary training (Erickson, et.al, 2014). Research conducted by Finn and Kohler (2009) also concluded that by implementing an IEP compliance review process or framework, some districts significantly increased their adherence to IDEA transition requirements. In addition, they also investigated if this transition model would have an impact on IEP content as well. The results for the evaluation of outcomes were less conclusive, with close to 35 percent of students' outcomes improving, and almost 40 percent of the IEPs where the "relationship between the activities and outcomes... was less obvious" (Finn & Kohler, 2009, p. 25).

For years, the IEP has been perceived as "an administrative mandate" (Sugai, 1985, p. 233). Given that the sole focus on procedural compliance on the IEP has not led to the desired outcomes for students with disabilities since the inception of IDEA more than 40 years ago, the U.S. Department of Education, state departments of education, as well as educational researchers, reformers, and practitioners argue that the emphasis should shift to improving results

for students with disabilities on a number of accountability measures. However, even with the renewed efforts of monitoring substantive compliance, few studies reviewing the "relationship between the content of the student's IEP (i.e., items in compliance) and effects on the student's in-school and postschool outcomes" have been conducted (Finn & Kohler, 2009, p. 27).

CHAPTER II

METHOD

The primary purpose of this study was to determine the impact of teacher procedural compliance to the IEP document on student achievement as measured by the Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) and the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). Individualized Education Programs were examined and rated for compliance in concert with a review of performance on standardized academic assessment. Research suggests there is typically little relationship between the IEP document and instructional delivery or improved student outcomes (LaSalle, Roach, & McGrath, 2013; Lynch & Beare, 1990). These findings have important implications for practitioners, administrators, and policymakers because federal and state monitoring has typically emphasized procedural compliance in lieu of calculating educational benefit and evaluating student outcomes. This study investigated the following research questions:

- 1. Did the school district's attempt to significantly improve the quality of the IEPs actually do so?
- 2. Did student outcomes, as measured on the reading and math portions of the Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) and the reading and math tests on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) improve significantly once teachers' rate of procedural compliance on IEPs improved?
- If the answer to research question 2 is yes for either or both MEAP and NAEP data: Did student outcomes also significantly improve for students without IEPs?

4. If the answer to research question 2 is no for both MEAP and NAEP data: Were IEPs actually related to establishing grade-appropriate academic performance as measured by the two tests?

Research Focus

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between procedural compliance of an IEP document as determined by the Michigan State Department of Special Education Office and student growth as measured by the MEAP and the NAEP, respectively. This extant study was appropriate to discern if a teacher's increase on procedural requirements to the IEP document resulted in increased student performance on standardized assessments, and was chosen because it provided an opportunity to determine if the intersection between the two could impact the manner in which administrators and educators practice in the future.

Setting and Participants

The study was conducted using IEP and achievement data related to students attending schools within a small public school district. The district is located in northern lower Michigan and is comprised of three elementary schools, one middle school, and one high school, totaling approximately 1,600 students. Based on demographic data published by Michigan on the MiSchool Data website for the 2013-14 school year, 52 percent of all students are considered Proficient in reading by the end of 3rd-grade as measured by the Michigan Educational Assessment Program. In that same year, 66 percent of all students graduated with a diploma in four years. However, for students with IEPs, the graduation rate falls to 35 percent and the dropout rate more than doubles the total student population rate, at almost 24 percent. Students with IEPs comprise approximately 11.5 percent of the total student population in the district.

There are 72 students whose data was examined in the study, ranging in grade from prekindergarten to 12th-grade. Both genders were included, with 29 percent female and 71 percent male. All students in the study took or were eligible to take the statewide assessment with accommodations. No student who took the alternative state assessment was included in the analysis.

Based on the most recently released data from the State of Michigan (2013), the overwhelming majority, or 99 percent, of all teachers in the district were Effective or Highly Effective. All 11 special education teachers employed by the district were considered Effective or Highly Effective. None of the special education teachers who developed, authored, and finalized IEPs during the study were considered probationary, and all were tenured. The minimum number of years teaching was five total years, while 2 of the 11 teachers had over 30 years in the field. Seven of the teachers had single special education endorsements with their teacher certification: 4 with cognitive impairment, 2 with learning disabilities, and 1 with emotional impairment. The remaining 4 teachers had multiple endorsements, each in the areas of emotional impairment, learning disabilities, hearing impairments, and early childhood.

Apparatus

Per IDEA, each state is required to ensure compliance to both federal and state rules. The State of Michigan has both Compliance Standards for Special Education, as well as resources for monitoring compliance to the standards (MDE, 2013). There are a number of these resources for specific areas of compliance that are published by the Michigan Department of Education. One resource used to measure compliance of the IEP document and for General Supervision Monitoring is the Student Record Review (Appendix C). The Michigan Department of Education Office of Special Education Sample Student Record Review: FAPE Spring 2012 was the apparatus utilized to determine compliance for the IEPs authored by providers within the school district.

The Student Record Review is a checklist that allows the reviewer to determine if the IEP document is considered compliant, and if not, what corrective action is required to bring the document up to the standard to meet compliance. There are 26 probe statements based on citations from IDEA regulations that align to essential components of the IEP. The totality of the probes equates to the requirements for compliance of an IEP. There are three possible responses for each probe: Yes, No, and NA, or non-applicable. The categorical format provides ease in determining compliance of the IEP. If even one of the 26 probe statements is marked, No, by the rater, then the IEP is noncompliant with corrective action required.

Procedures

Phase 1: Baseline

In the 2011-2012 school year, there were 226 students with an IEP receiving special education services in the district. Given the random selection process by the State of Michigan, any of the IEPs of these students could have been chosen for the review to ascertain procedural compliance. In the spring of 2012, officials from the Michigan Department of Education Office of Special Education completed a general supervision monitoring audit on the district. Three official state monitors conducted interviews with district service providers, administrators and teachers. They also completed a thorough review of 10 randomly selected IEPs using the Student Record Review. From their review, the MDE OSE monitors determined that only 1 of the 10 IEPs was considered compliant; that is, meeting all the standards on the record review. The state target and expectation is that all, or 100 percent of IEPs are considered compliant when reviewed.

In August of 2012, a focused monitoring finding was cited since the "local is not in compliance with IDEA regulations regarding IEP development and implementation," including the follow non-compliant violations:

- Attendance of required members at IEP meetings.
- Specific present level of academic and functional performance statements in the IEPs.
- Measureable annual goals.
- Specifying time, frequency, and condition for provision and documentation of supplemental aids and services.
- Revision of IEPs when students are not making progress.
- Providing programs/services aligned with the IEP.

The required corrective action was that all IEPs would be compliant when a random sample was selected and reviewed again in the spring of 2013. Given the random selection process utilized by the State of Michigan Office of Special Education, any of the IEPs of the students from the district could have been chosen and could be chosen for the future audit review. In addition, during this school year, 2011-2012, there was no external monitoring of IEP development nor any special education teacher or provider training of IEP development. Table 3

Phase 1: Baseline

Date	# of IEPs	# of IEPs	% of IEPs
	Non-Compliant	Compliant	Compliant
May 2012	9	1	10

Phase 2: Training

The following school year, 2012-2013, focused on increased IEP compliance for the return MDE audit in May of 2013. To ensure an increase in compliant IEPs from 10 percent to 100 percent in under a calendar year, the district engaged in multiple activities. Training was conducted monthly with administrators and special education personnel on the essential components of a compliant IEP. Another activity was the systematic monitoring of IEP authorization and development. This was done using the Student Record Review rubric employed by the MDE Office of Special Education monitors. The case managing special education teacher used it as a guideline to develop the IEP document when authoring an IEP for a student on his or her caseload. Additionally, the district was assigned two teacher consultants to support improved compliance on IEPs. Both teacher consultants have Master of Arts in Education degree, as well as special education teaching certificates with endorsements in cognitive impairments and learning disabilities. They were both trained by the Intermediate School District Monitor on the use of the Student Record Review form.

Each of the two teacher consultants used the same format and rubric to review every draft IEP document. If the IEP draft document received a No on any of the 26 items, it was considered not compliant. The overwhelming majority reason for non-compliance was due to unmeasurable goals. Ninety-five percent of the non-compliant IEPs included unmeasurable goals, with 15 percent non-compliant solely for that reason. Other reasons for the additional non-compliance included: missing data from the present levels of academic achievement and functional performance (PLAAFP), non-specific supplementary aids and services, or nonattendance of required IEP team members. Authoring teachers or providers received feedback and the opportunity to revise the document to meet procedural compliance standard per the findings on the Student Record Review. Finally, up to 10 newly developed and finalized IEPs a month were randomly selected to be reviewed for monitoring and interrater reliability to determine if they would be considered compliant based on the process used by the MDEOSE. Table 4

L	haco	2.	Training
1	nuse	4.	Truining

Date	# of IEPs Non -Compliant	# of IEPs Compliant	% of IEPs Compliant
October 2012	6	4	40
November 2012	5	1	17
December 2012	3	1	25
January 2013	5	5	50
February 2013	5	5	50
March 2013	3	4	57
April 2013	1	9	90

Phase 3: Maintenance

During the third and final year, a format similar to that used by MDE was implemented to insure adherence to compliant IEP development practices that had been discreetly trained. Each month, 10 IEPs were randomly selected and reviewed by the teacher consultants assigned to the district using the same Student Record Review as the MDE to measure compliance. The teacher would be given the feedback so that appropriate adjustments could be made before finalizing the document. If an error pattern emerged, retraining occurred in that area.

Table 5

Date	# of IEPs Non -Compliant	# of IEPs Compliant	% of IEPs Compliant
October 2013	2	7	78
November 2013	3	6	67
December 2013	0	0	NA
January 2014	0	9	100
February 2014	1	5	83
March 2014	0	4	100
April 2014	1	6	86

Phase 3: Maintenance

Inter-rater Reliability

Inter-rater or inter-scorer agreement was collected on a total of 101 IEPs, or almost half of the IEPs implemented in the district during the study. Inter-scorer agreement was obtained to ensure consistency between the two teacher consultants in evaluating the compliance status of the IEP documents that were reviewed. This was determined on an item-by-item basis of the 26 items MDE Student Record Review checklist. When the two teacher consultants both scored the items as Yes or No, this is agreement. When there is a difference in how they scored the item, there is disagreement. To determine the calculation of inter-scorer agreement, the total number of agreements is divided by the number of agreements plus disagreements and multiplied by 100. (House, House, & Campbell, 1981). Inter-rater reliability between the evaluating teacher consultants was found to be at 94%.

Data Analysis

Using inferential statistics, there were a number of ways to organize, summarize, and analyze the data obtained from this study. The first method of analysis was to investigate

procedural compliance with IDEA to the IEP document calculating the percentage of reviewed IEPs evaluated as compliant and non-compliant per the Michigan Department of Education Office of Special Education Student Record Review rubric. By using a chi-square test, the observed frequency of compliance was compared to the expected frequency. This analysis provided the procedure to "determine whether the discrepancy between the set of sample percentages and those specified in the null hypothesis is large enough for the null hypothesis to be rejected" (Huck, 2012, p. 412). Comparing the mean percentage of compliance in each of the three phases allowed for the determination of whether the district made progress in becoming more compliant per State intervention, and to determine if the assumed frequency would be the same in all phases.

For the next part of the study, student assessment results were included in the analysis using data from the same participants whose IEPs were reviewed for procedural compliance. Scores from the Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) and the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) were analyzed in relation to performance towards proficiency scores. At each grade level, the lowest possible score, or cut score, to be considered proficient or at benchmark was determined for both the MEAP and the NAEP. For the MEAP, the scores were provided every year by the MDE, which are included as Appendix D. For the NAEP, the scores were based on the recommendations from the Michigan Linking Study published by the Northwest Evaluation Association in 2012 (Appendix E). The study determined the RIT score that "would be the equivalent to the minimum score for proficiency" on the MEAP (NWEA, 2012, p. 2). Each score was then converted to a ratio, with a score of 1.0 being proficient. Using non-independent groups *t*-test, proficiency ratio means for each compliance phase were compared. In statistically looking at the test scores from the students

whose IEPs were reviewed from each phase (i.e., baseline, training, and maintenance), the study determined if there was a measured difference between the mean proficiency ratios of student data as compliance percentages increased.

If there was in fact a difference, the study determined if the difference between the averages of the two groups could have occurred because of random chance in the sample selection or if it is considered statistically meaningful. Such findings are relevant to whether a variable other than compliance improved proficiency level performance on standardized assessments of students with IEPs. Given that the null hypothesis would assert that there would be no statistically significant difference between the two, the analysis will also investigate if that assumption is accurate or if an alternative hypothesis that compliance to the IEP has an impact on student outcome results should be accepted.

Finally, if there was not a difference that is considered statistically significant given the analysis, IEP content was examined to determine if the IEPs were developed utilizing grade-level standards to align with the skills assessed by the MEAP and NAEP. This was done by reviewing IEP goals and calculating the total percentage of those drafted using the grade-level content standards commensurate to the area of need.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

This study investigated whether: (a) teachers increased the quality of authoring and writing compliant IEPs, (b) whether this increased procedural compliance on IEPs had an impact on student assessment results, and (c) whether there was a relationship between outcomes for students with IEPs and non-disabled peers or whether there was a relationship to grade-based standards on IEP goals.

Compliance

From a cursory review, it appears teachers met the target of writing quality and compliant IEPs. When the MDE OSE state auditors reviewed the district's IEPs in May of 2012, only 1 of 10 reviewed was considered compliant with the expectation that all IEPs are always compliant. Due to the citation, the auditors returned at the end of the 2012-13 school year to again inspect 10 randomly selected district IEPs. Every IEP, all 10 of 10, were considered compliant at that state-level review. In the span of the baseline year to the end of the training year, the IEPs increased in compliance from 10 percent to 100 hundred percent from the perspective of the MDE OSE state official (see Figure 1).

Additionally, upon insistence from the district superintendent that the special education department avoid future citations for non-compliance, procedures put in place for teacher accountability in developing and authoring IEPs during the training year were maintained the following school year, 2013-14. Teachers continued to remain compliant or near compliant when IEPs were randomly selected and reviewed by the teacher consultants (see Figure 2).



Figure 1. Comparison of percentage of compliant IEPs in baseline and training phases.



Figure 2. Comparison of percentage of compliant IEPs in training and maintenance phases.

A statistical analysis also provides evidence the district made progress in becoming more compliant when developing IEPs. A chi-square test was used to test the null hypothesis that the percentage of compliant IEPs would be the same in all three phases of the study. One would expect this to be the case in the absence of an effective intervention for increasing compliance. The mean compliance percentage of each phase increased from 10% in the baseline phase to 47% in the training phase. It then increased from 47% to 85% in the maintenance phase.

Results of the chi-square test revealed that the obtained data differed significantly at the .01 alpha level from the expected data as expressed in the null hypothesis ($X^2 = 112.782$, df = 1, p < .01). Therefore the null hypothesis can be rejected. With the IEP being defined as compliant based on the MDE OSE Student Record Review rubric of all 26 items affirmatively rated, the data appears to suggest the quality of the teachers IEPs increased beyond what would be considered due to chance.

Although each phase in and of itself may not appear as great in significance as the comparison of the totality of the data from the initial measure in the spring of 2012 to the final measure in the spring of 2014, all mean compliance percentages changed in the positive direction as indicated by Tables 6 and 7.

Table 6

		Compliant IEPs	
Phase School Year	No	Yes	Total
Baseline 2011-2012	90.0 (9)	10.0 (1)	100.00
Training 2012-2013	53.0 (28)	47.0 (29)	100.00
Chi Square $p < 0.1$	33.591		

IEP Compliance Comparison Between Baseline and Training Phases

Table 7

	Compliant IEPs				
Phase School Year	No	Yes	Total		
Training 2012-2013	53.0 (28)	47.0 (29)	100.00		
Maintenance 2013-2014	15.0 (7)	85.0 (37)	100.00		
Chi Square $p < 0.1$	32.175				

IEP Compliance Comparison Between Training and Maintenance Phases

Given the results, the null hypothesis that the results would be the same across all phases is rejected. The results are in fact statistically significant due to the intervening factors and the district service providers succeeding in writing more quality and compliant IEPs from the initial review to the follow-up review phases.

Results

Utilizing the findings from the compliance analysis to further this investigation, achievement data from the students whose IEPs were reviewed was statistically compared. Following the lead of nationwide and state reporting of scores from benchmark and proficiency assessments, the analysis of student achievement scores in math and reading were reviewed and sorted into either Proficient or Not Proficient based on the performance standards as defined by the respective assessment. In doing so, there were startling results. Of the 154 subtest scores reviewed over the three school year timeframe, only **2** subtests scores were considered Proficient or at benchmark on the respective assessment measures. Assessment scores were then calculated as a ratio towards proficiency or benchmark. This was done by comparing the obtained score divided by the lowest possible score, or cut score, the student must earn to be considered proficient or at benchmark. The proficiency ratio scores are reported in the student achievement table (Table 8).

Table 8

Subject	Compliance Phase	Ratio	Subject	Compliance Phase	Ratio
Math	1	0.82353	Reading	1	0.53333
Math	1	0.82353	Reading	1	0.66667
Math	1	0.94118	Reading	1	0.60000
Math	1	0.52941	Reading	1	0.46667
Math	1	0.29412	Reading	1	0.73333
Math	1	0.52941	Reading	1	0.86667
Math	1	0.73684	Reading	1	0.76471
Math	1	0.63158	Reading	1	0.76471
Math	1	0.63158	Reading	1	0.76471
Math	1	0.97321	Reading	1	0.88793
Math	1	0.79913	Reading	1	0.84034
Math	1	0.98690	Reading	1	0.90756
Math	1	0.79913	Reading	1	0.72269
Math	1	0.84821	Reading	1	0.83621
Math	1	0.79913	Reading	1	0.75630
Math	1	0.92544	Reading	1	0.81967
Math	1	0.93578	Reading	1	0.73451
Math	1	0.79913	Reading	1	0.72269
Math	1	0.84716	Reading	1	0.84454
Math	1	0.90830	Reading	1	0.83613
Math	1	0.84716	Reading	1	0.77731
Math	1	0.89224	Reading	1	0.78629
Math	1	0.84716	Reading	1	0.75630

Student Achievement Proficiency Ratios

Subject	Compliance Phase	Ratio	Subject	Compliance Phase	Ratio
Math	1	0.89908	Reading	1	0.73451
Math	2	0.41176	Reading	2	0.75000
Math	2	0.76471	Reading	2	0.93750
Math	2	0.76471	Reading	2	0.81250
Math	2	0.41176	Reading	2	0.75000
Math	2	0.76471	Reading	2	0.93750
Math	2	0.76471	Reading	2	0.81250
Math	2	0.31579	Reading	2	0.66667
Math	2	0.84211	Reading	2	0.44444
Math	2	0.78947	Reading	2	0.83333
Math	2	0.68421	Reading	2	0.66667
Math	2	0.98661	Reading	2	0.85776
Math	2	0.84716	Reading	2	0.86975
Math	2	0.98253	Reading	2	0.91597
Math	2	0.87773	Reading	2	0.84034
Math	2	0.86161	Reading	2	0.83621
Math	2	0.79913	Reading	2	0.79412
Math	2	0.92982	Reading	2	0.82377
Math	2	0.83945	Reading	2	0.73451
Math	2	0.93839	Reading	2	0.93981
Math	2	0.85308	Reading	2	0.75000
Math	2	0.84716	Reading	2	0.72269
Math	2	0.82969	Reading	2	0.84034
Math	2	0.89100	Reading	2	0.91667
Math	2	0.93450	Reading	2	0.86975
Math	2	0.91943	Reading	2	0.79412
Math	2	0.90830	Reading	2	0.80093
Math	2	0.81651	Reading	2	0.82773
Math	2	0.88073	Reading	2	0.73451

Table 8—Continued

Subject	Compliance Phase	Ratio	Subject	Compliance Phase	Ratio
Math	2	1.00877	Reading	2	0.84071
Math	2	0.88312	Reading	2	0.79339
Math	2	0.98701	Reading	2	0.94215
Math	2	0.87013	Reading	2	0.84298
Math	2	0.87719	Reading	2	0.85141
Math	2	0.80519	Reading	2	0.72650
Math	2	0.90517	Reading	2	0.92576
Math	2	0.92377	Reading	2	0.78166
Math	2	0.96313	Reading	2	0.83884
Math	2	0.88018	Reading	2	0.87603
Math	2	0.83117	Reading	2	0.86026
Math	2	0.90476	Reading	2	0.87603
Math	2	0.88940	Reading	2	0.89669
Math	2	0.99134	Reading	2	0.82969
Math	2	0.86147	Reading	2	0.71901
Math	2	0.90323	Reading	2	0.72650
Math	2	0.88312	Reading	2	0.90598
Math	2	0.91928	Reading	3	0.77778
Math	2	0.89686	Reading	3	0.55556
Math	3	0.89474	Reading	3	0.83333
Math	3	0.78947	Reading	3	0.61111
Math	3	0.63158	Reading	3	0.77778
Math	3	0.52632	Reading	3	1.27778
Math	3	0.68421	Reading	3	0.77778
Math	3	0.52632	_	_	_
Math	3	0.52632	—	—	

Table 8—Continued

A mean proficiency ratio score was calculated for math and reading for each compliance phase. Using a non-independent groups *t*-test, the achievement data was analyzed to determine if there was a measured difference between the proficiency ratio means in relationship to the phase of compliance in which the score was obtained. The *t*-test revealed that the mean difference between the proficiency ratio during the baseline phase, where mean compliance was at 10%, and the proficiency ratio during the maintenance phase, where mean compliance was at 85%, was not significantly different for either math or reading. Comparison of the mean proficiency ratio for mathematics for students in the 2011-12 school year (M = .79368, SD = .16436) and the mean proficiency ratio for mathematics for students in the 2013-2014 school year (M = .65414, SD = .14528) appeared to be not quite statistically significant between the compliance phases t(29) = 2.0227, p = .0524. When investigating the mean proficiency ratio of student reading scores between the same two school years, 2011-12 (M = .75516, SD = .10536) and 2013-14 (M= .80159, SD = .23320), there was no statistically significant difference as compliance increased t(29) = 0.7632, p = .04515 (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Proficiency ratio means for math and reading in all three compliance phases.

Outcomes

Because there was no statistically significant difference in achievement scores across the phases of compliance, the IEP goals from the reviewed IEPs were analyzed for content aligned to grade-level standards.

In order to determine if the IEP goal was written at the student's grade-level, criteria from Rule 34 CFR 300.320 through 300.324 of IDEA was utilized to develop probe questions:

- A statement of the child's present levels of academic achievement and functional performance
- A statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals designed to:
 - Meet the child's needs that result from the child's disability to enable the child to be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum; and
 - Meet each of the child's other educational needs that result from the child's disability (20 U.S.C. 1414(d)(1)(A)(i))

Like the IEPs, the two raters more specifically evaluated the IEP goals. There were a total of 127 goals assessed to determine alignment to grade-level standards. For each IEP goal, three dichotomous Yes/No questions regarding the goal were asked: Is the instructional area aligned with the student's grade level? Is the standard upon which the goal will be based at the student's grade level? Is the measurable annual goal based upon the student's grade level? This checklist is included as Appendix F.

Overall, inter-rater reliability was found to be at 71%. This was calculated by dividing the total number of agreements by the number of agreements plus disagreements and multiplying by 100 (Huck, 2012). The obtained level of inter-rater reliability substantially exceeded the chance level (58%) associated with the base rates of "yes" and "no" responses of the two raters. Cohen's kappa was calculated to compare obtained agreement to chance agreement, and its value is .31. Landis and Koch (1977) considered such a kappa value to represent "fair" interrater reliability and to be consistent with a meaningful, but not ideal, observational system. Inter-rater agreement was calculated for each of the three probe questions, with obtained values very similar to that obtained for overall inter-rater reliability. For question 1 regarding the instructional level, the raters responses were consistent with one another 72%. On the question reviewing grade-level and standard alignment, they agreed 72%. Finally, for the rating on the annual measureable goal, they were found to be 71%.

Table 9

Frequency	of	Rating
-----------	----	--------

	Question 1		Quest	Question 2		Question 3	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	
Rater 1	95	32	95	32	63	64	
Rater 2	111	16	111	16	97	30	

With overall agreement at 71%, the data appear to be fairly consistent between raters, with 75% of the probe question scores affirmative for the alignment of the IEP goal to the student's grade-level standards. However, the evaluation of question 3 by Rater 1 is discrepant from the other ratings, as it falls just below 50% for affirming that the measurable annual IEP goal was based upon the student's grade-level.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The current shift in the field of special education from an accountability system focused on procedural compliance to one with an emphasis on student outcomes means school districts must begin to address the well-documented achievement gap between students with and without disabilities. This fundamental adjustment however, is not in lieu of procedural compliance, but rather the *addition* of substantive compliance to that existing expectation.

Compliance

With the threat of sanctions for not complying with IDEA as determined by the State of Michigan, the district put procedures in place to increase the quality of their IEPs and to meet the mandated compliance target. The results based on the first research question of this study demonstrate that the district special education service providers did in fact improve on procedural compliance on the IEPs. The number of Yes marks on the Student Record Review grew, as did the monthly mean compliance scores, from the first phase (baseline) through the final phase (maintenance). This finding is significant and was validated by the MDEOSE during their final audit of the district in the spring of 2013, where one hundred percent of the IEPs the monitors reviewed were found procedurally compliant. The teachers continued to author compliant IEPs even without the threat of state sanctions the following school year in 2013-2014, during the maintenance phase. In fact, the overall mean percentage for all teachers during the maintenance phase (85%) was higher than the training phase (47%), the phase with more implications for non-compliance. This may indicate that the procedures put in place by the district to improve the quality of IEPs were broader than merely "passing the state audit." Instead, the special education service providers appeared to benefit from the use, training, and

feedback related to the MDEOSE Sample Student Record Review – FAPE Spring 2012 checklist during the training phase to create an expectation of constructing compliant IEPs so that "the district would not be in this position again."

As noted in previous studies (Rehfeldt, Clark, & Lee 2010; Rosas, Winterman, Kroeger, & Jones, M, 2009), a rubric or checklist does not necessarily equate to compliant IEPs and the inclusion of all the components required by IDEA 2004 when writing them. However, as shown with this study, special education providers came closer to meeting the procedural requirements of the IEP after the implemented use of the MDEOSE rubric (85%) than they did prior to its use (10%). In addition, the use of the rubric allowed for consistent and objective feedback to district special education providers regarding their performance on writing quality and compliant IEPs. With the interrater reliability well over 90 percent (94%) between the intermediate school district teacher consultants when using the MDEOSE rubric to review district IEPs, all special education providers to meet the IDEA requirements. Based on statistical analyses as well as state agency focused monitoring, the district significantly improved its procedural compliance on IEPs.

For those preparing teachers to work in the field of special education and for administrators practicing already, this conclusion has implications for training and ongoing monitoring of IEP development. Individualized Education Programs can be difficult for teachers to consistently author with complete compliance as previously discussed. A framework or rubric for teachers to reference as they construct the document may help in avoiding procedural errors. In addition, a systematic method for reviewing and providing feedback to special education providers regarding the quality of their IEPs would be a beneficial special education administration strategy to ensure a culture of compliance to IDEA regulations.

Academic Achievement Outcomes

As is well documented in the literature and outlined in previous chapters, students with IEPs are not scoring commensurate with their same-aged, non-disabled peers on national and statewide assessments (Reschly & Christenson, 2006). Not only is there an achievement gap between disabled and non-disabled students, but an overwhelming majority of students with IEPs are considered "non-proficient" on these same assessments, thus not meeting grade level standards (Anderson, Medrich, & Fowler, 2007). This trend was reflected in the data from the school district of study as well. The second research question investigated the achievement assessment results of the district's students with IEPs on the MEAP and NAEP in comparison to the rate of improved compliance by the same district's special education service providers. Of the 154 reading and math subtest scores reviewed, only two of the subtest scores were considered proficient or at grade-level benchmark. Therefore, solely using attainment of "proficiency" as a comparison measure was not viable for the statistical analysis. Instead, a proficiency ratio was calculated to discern if there was any measurable difference in scores between the three compliance phases. The ratio towards proficiency was calculated using 1.0 as the cut-off or lowest proficient score for the grade and subtest. Although this conversion of score to a ratio is not typically computed when discussing proficiency levels on statewide assessments, the small sample of "proficient" scores from this study would not have provided a feasible statistical comparison. It was a bit shocking, but not at all surprising, that there were so few math and reading MEAP and NAEP subtest scores considered proficient across the three school year data analysis for students with IEPs in the school district.

When considering the mean proficiency scores in comparison to the compliance scores, there does not appear to be much if any relationship. In fact, as the service providers became more accurate in writing compliant IEPs (M = 10 vs. M = 85), the mean proficiency score actually decreased in mathematics (M = .79368 vs. M = .65414). In the subject of reading, there was no statistically significant difference between the two means from phase one with IEP compliance was measured at 10% and when it increased in the final, maintenance phase to 85% (M = .75516 vs. M = .80159).

For special education practitioners, trainers, and administrators there is typically a presupposition that if the IEP is considered compliant, then it equates to educational benefit for the student with a disability. As noted by Erickson et al. (2014), this is a false assumption especially if the goal is to access the general education curriculum and master it as assessed by statewide assessments. Since RDA intends to reshape national and state monitoring from procedural compliance to student outcomes and results, special education practitioners will need to develop skills in assessment literacy. Given that special education teachers typically do not consider results on statewide assessments when developing IEPs (Sharpe & Hawes, 2003), it would be incongruous to expect that outcomes for student with disabilities on these same assessments could naturally improve.

Finally, the last two questions of this study addressed student outcomes. The third question was contingent upon whether the MEAP or NAEP scores for the school district's students with IEPs improved as the teacher's compliance on the IEPs improved. Based on the results, it is clear that there was no improvement on MEAP or NAEP reading and mathematics subtest scores from the baseline phase in school year 2011-2012 to the maintenance phase in school year 2013-2014 for student with disabilities. No MEAP or NAEP score comparisons

were thus made between students with and without IEPs. Instead, the final question, "Were IEPs actually related to establishing grade-appropriate academic performance as measured by the two tests?" was addressed in this study.

Because there was no improvement on the statewide assessment or national standardized assessments for students with IEPs even as IEP compliance statistically improved, this question becomes relevant for a number of reasons. One reason is that the alignment of the IEP to the grade level standards is important as the MEAP and NAEP annually assess skills aligned to those grade level standards. Another reason is that the USDOE Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services reemphasized the requirement that IEP goals be "aligned with grade-level content standards for all children with disabilities" in a "Dear Colleague" letter written on November 16, 2015, (p. 1). Finally, in the article "What We Know and Need to Know About the Consequences of High-Stakes Testing for Students With Disabilities" by Ysseldyke and Nelson (2004), the authors cite a study by Sharpe and Hawes (2003) in which, "they generally found that teachers almost wholly disregarded the results of large-scale assessments in the consideration of IEP goals and objectives" (p. 82).

Overall, it appears that for the most part, the IEPs and accompanying IEP goals written by the district's special education service providers were aligned to the state standards of the grade level in which the student was enrolled. When writing the annual measureable IEP goal aligned to state standards, there are three components to consider; the instructional area, the student's grade level, and the grade level standard on which the goal will be based (Appendix G). When reviewing the first component, the raters agreed that the instructional area was accurately selected at grade level by the district special education providers for the specific student between 75 and 87% of the IEP goals. Identical agreement was observed by the raters as well for goal alignment to the state standard on which the goal would be written (between 75 and 87%). On the last component, however, the raters did not feel as confidently that the special education teachers wrote measureable IEP goals that were aligned to the particular grade-level state standard of the students. One found that less than half of the IEP goals met the threshold for a measurable goal that was actually written to include the grade level expectation. The other did not appraise the same measure quite as low, but it was lower than the previous ratings at 76% "yes" in contrast to 87% for the first two component ratings. They reported that it was difficult to positively rate an IEP goal that included "in an age-appropriate manner" or one in which the grade level was ambiguous and used statements like " on applied problems" which they mentioned could be found in multiple grade's standards. While there could be greater clarity when writing grade-level standards based IEP goals, it appears that the special education providers in the district wrote IEPs based on the instructional level and grade-appropriate academic level that are typically measured by the MEAP and the NAEP.

Given these results, there are implications for both teacher training programs as well as current practitioners in the field of special education. While it appears that IEP goals were written based on grade-level standards, it is not apparent if the appropriate standard was intentionally selected with the outcome in mind. Progress monitoring of the IEP goals as well as instructional practice to achieve them was not a part of this study. However, as standards-based goals are developed as a part of the IEP construction process, special education providers may need to consider how they will measure incremental progress on the IEP goals. Instructional practice can be then modified if students are not making adequate growth towards the standards. Careful selection and alignment of the IEP goals to standards, as well as more frequent monitoring of progress on them may contribute to better performance on standards-based summative assessments.

Limitations

The limitations of this study are not unlike those typical when utilizing a nonexperimental method. The researcher is at the mercy of another entity using archival data from that entity. Educational settings also quite often have concurrent and even competing, initiatives being implemented simultaneously, which makes it difficult to control for extraneous variable impact or manipulate independent variables. In addition, clear and defined relationships between the variables are not as easily established with statistical analyses alone.

Each of the three phases of analysis – baseline, training, and maintenance – were based upon and contained within a school year and thus student data obtained in that year could loosely be considered a "group" when comparing relationships across the phases. Because the students were not assigned to each group or year by the researcher, group equivalence cannot be assumed. Nor should independence, as the students and teachers whose data were analyzed all came from the same school district. Some interactions may have influenced or affected outcomes or performance (Cone & Foster, 2006). This was due to the fact that the data was being collected for another purpose - as a method to monitor teacher progress towards meeting the compliance expectations as outlined in the Michigan Department of Education Office of Special Education finding the school district received in the spring of 2011. This study was then developed much later in response to the announcement by the United States Department of Education Office of Special Education office of Special Education in 2014 that student outcome results, and not just compliance, would be monitored by both the federal and state governments in relation to the adherence by school districts to IDEA (Delisle & Yudin, 2014). As with garnering access to school district data post

hoc, the variability and accessibility of clean and consistent data for the researcher can be challenging. In this study, the sample size for achievement data for students with IEPs for the 2012-2013 school year was larger than that for the 2013-2014 school year. Although the data related to the compliance had a consistent sample size over the three phases, the student achievement data did not. Using proportional statistics helps provide the comparisons necessary to analyze the potential relationship, however.

Given that the research was completed within the context utilizing data from one school district, these findings would not necessarily generalize to other school districts. Additionally, "without true random assignment of the students to conditions, there remains the possibility of other important confounding variables that the researcher is not about to control" (Price, 2012, p. 7). A comparison between the school district in which the study was conducted alongside a similar school district that was not under the same type of Office of Special Education State Department scrutiny as a control group, would have also provided another opportunity for comparison and generalization. Although the school district's increase in compliance had no visible impact on student achievement outcomes from this study, a sample from another similar district comparing the two may have provided another data set in which to draw some conclusions and comparisons about compliance, results, and directionality of the two.

Finally, although the efficacy of using a rubric or external framework in supporting teachers to author more compliant IEPs has been shown (Rosas et al., 2009), the technical adequacy of the rubric developed and utilized by the Michigan Department of Education Office of Special Education to assess IEP compliance is unknown or unpublished. Like the study conducted by Finn and Kohler in 2009, the MDEOSE Sample Student Record Review – FAPE Spring 2012 checklist "used in this study, however, appears to parallel the IEP content and

process requirements of IDEA, and training appears to have resulted in interrater reliability" (p. 26).

This does not diminish the importance of this type of study to the field, however, in fact, more and continued work post hoc on the data that has been collected regarding student performance over the forty some years since the enactment of IDEA should be engaged in to determine trends and patterns. Such type of program evaluation analysis may assist practitioners in systematically determining practical uses and relationships in the field that can improve student outcomes.

In addition, extensions or modifications to this study may support further practitioner understanding of the impact that procedural compliance has on substantive compliance or educational benefit. Single subject designs or case studies at the student level may provide specific insights in the relationship between procedural compliance and student outcomes. Conversely, repeating this study with two districts concurrently would allow for one of them to be utilized as a "nontreatment" comparison group if they had similar baseline compliance means.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between procedural compliance of an IEP document and student growth as measured by state and nationwide assessments. This extant study was appropriate to determine if a teacher's increase on procedural requirements to the IEP document resulted in increased student performance on standardized assessments with the recent federal promotion of Results Driven Accountability for students with disabilities. Given the well-documented lack of proficiency towards state standards for students with IEPs as well as the achievement gap between students with and without disabilities, the United States Department of Education shifted its focus of IDEA monitoring to a framework with renewed focus on outcomes for students with disabilities, including performance on statewide assessments (USDOE, 2014). Even with support for this shift, there is little research that supports what does, in fact, contribute to increased achievement and better outcomes for students with disabilities (Erickson et al., 2014). With past practice of state and federal monitoring emphasis on procedural compliance, it seems practical for special education researchers and practitioners to first consider the intersection between compliance and outcomes. However, this study, like those conducted prior, found that there is little relationship and no impact of procedural compliance on outcomes for students with IEPs (Finn & Kohler, 2009; Pudelski, 2013; Turner et al., 2000). Even as the compliance increased and the quality of the IEPs improved in the district, there was no statistically significant positive difference in achievement scores for the students with IEPs. Although procedural compliance may not be essential to outcomes for students with disabilities, it is still important for special educators to adhere to procedures and safeguards that ensure compliance to the regulations within the IDEA, just not so exclusively as to ignore substantive compliance and educational benefit. In the new era of Results Driven Accountability in the field of special education, trainers, administrators, and providers will need to develop IEPs calculated for educational benefit and measureable outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, H., Barner, S. L., & Larson, J. (1978). Evaluation of written individualized education programs. *Exceptional Children*, *9*, 207-208
- Anderson, S., Medrich, E., & Fowler, D. (2007). Which achievement gap. *Phi Delta Kappan, 88*, 547-550.
- Bateman, B. D. (1995). Writing individualized education programs for success. *Secondary Education and Beyond*. Retrieved from http://www.bwschools.net/district/pdfpupilservices/iep/write-iep.pdf
- Bateman, B. D. (2011). Individualized education programs for children with disabilities. In J.
 Kauffman & D. Hallahan (Eds.). *Handbook of special education* (pp. 91-106). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Blackwell, W., & Blackwell, V. (2015). A longitudinal study of special education due process hearings in Massachusetts: Issues, representation, and student characteristics. SAGE Open, January-March, 1-11.
- Blackwell, Z., & Rosetti, Z. (2014). The development of individualized education programs. Where have we been and where should we go now? *SAGE Open, April-June*, 1-15.
- Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District, Westchester County, et al., Petitioners v. Amy Rowley, by her parents, Rowley et al. Respondent in 1982 (No. 80-1002).
- Boavida, T., Aguiar, C., McWilliam, A., & Pimentel, J. (2010). Quality of individualized education program goals of preschoolers with disabilities. *Infants and Young Children*, 23, 233-243.

- Campbell, J., Voelkl, K., & Donahue, P. (1997). *NAEP 1996 trends in academic progress*. Washington, DC: Office of Educational Research and Improvement.
- Capizzi, A. (2008). From assessment to annual goal; engaging a decision-making process in writing measurable IEPs. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *41*, 18-25.
- Cole, C. (2006). Closing the achievement gap series, part III: What is the impact of NCLB on the inclusion of students with disabilities? *Center for Evaluation and Education Policy Brief*, 4(11), 1-12.
- Cone, S., & Foster, S. (2006). *Dissertations and theses from start to finish*. Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Creswell, J. (2005). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- D'Angelo, A., Lutz, J. G., & Zirkel, P. A. (2004). Are published IDEA hearing officer decisions representative. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *14*(4), 241-252.
- Delisle, D., & Yudin, M. (2014). Letter to chief state school officer: May 21, 2014. Washington, DC: United States Department of Education. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/osers/osep/rda/050914rda-lette-to-chiefs-final.pdf
- Drasgow, E., Yell, M., & Robinson, T. R. (2001). Developing legally correct and educationally appropriate IEPs. *Remedial and Special Education*, *22*, 359-373.
- Duff, A. (2001). How special education policy affects districts. In C. Finn, A. Rotherham, & C. Hokanson (Eds.), Rethinking special education for a new century. Washington, DC: Thomas B. Fordham Foundation.

Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.

- Erickson, A., Noonan, P., Brussow, J., & Gilpin, B. (2014). The impact of IDEA Indicator 13 compliance on postsecondary outcomes. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 37(3), 161-167.
- Etscheidt, S. (2003). An analysis of legal hearings and cases related to individualized education programs for children with autism. *Research and Practice for Persons With Severe Disabilities, 28,* 51-69.
- Finn, J., & Kohler, P. (2009). A compliance evaluation of the transition outcomes project. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals, 32*(1), 17-29.
- Frieden, L. (2004). Improving educational outcomes for students with disabilities. Retrieved from http://www.educationalpolicy.org/pdf/ncd.pdf
- Grissmer, D., Flanagan, A., Kawata, J., & Williamson, S. (2000). *Improving student achievement*. Santa Monica, CA: Rand.
- Hanushek, E., Kain, J., & Rivkin, S. (1998). Teachers, schools, academic achievement. Cambridge, MA: Bureau of Economic Research.
- Harkin, T. (1993). Inclusion: Future goals. *Exceptional Parent, 23*(7), 25-28.
- Healy, S. H. (2000). The general education curriculum: Gaining access for students with disabilities. *Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education*, *22*(2), 37-43.
- Hersh, C. L., & Johansen, I. M. (2007). Free appropriate public education in the fourth circuit. *School Law Bulletin*, *38*(1), 1-15.
- House, A., House, B., & Campbell, M. (1981). Measures of interobserver agreement:Calculation formulas and distribution effects. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 3, 37-57.

Huck, S. (2012). Reading statistics and research (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 1990, 20 U.S.C. §1400.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, 20 U.S.C. § 1400.

- Institute of Educational Statistics, National Center for Educational Statistics. (2016). Children and youth with disabilities. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator cgg.asp
- Itkonen, T. (2007). PL 94-142: Policy, evolution, and landscape shift. *Issues in Teacher Education, 16*(2), 1-17.
- Johnson, S. (2003). Reexamining Rowley: A new focus in special education law. *BYU Education and Law Journal, 2003,* 561-587. Retrieved from

http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1168&context=elj

- Katsiyannis, A., & Herbst, M. (2004). Minimize litigation in special education. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 40(2), 106-111.
- Katsiyannis, A., Zhang, D., Ryan, J. B., & Jones, J. (2007). High-stakes testing and students with disabilities challenges and promises. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *18*(3), 160-167.
- Klotz, M. B., & Nealis, L. (2005). The new IDEA: A summary of significant reforms. Retrieved from www.nasponline.org/advocacy/ldreferencesnew.pdf
- Kohler, P. D., & Field, S. (2003). Transition-focused education foundation for the future. *The Journal of Special Education*, *37*(3), 174-183.
- Kauffman, J., & Hallahan, D. (2011). *Handbook of special education*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Kaufman, J., & Lloyd, J.W. (2011). Statistics, data, and special education decisions: Basic links to realities. In J. Kauffman & D. Hallahan (Eds.), *Handbook of special education* (pp. 27-36). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Landis, J. R., & Koch, G. G. (1977). The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*, *33*, 159-174.
- LaSalle, T., Roach, A., & McGrath, D. (2013). The relationship of IEP quality to curricular access and academic achievement for students with disabilities. *International Journal of Special Education, 28,* 135-144.
- Lee, J., & Orfield, G. (2006). Tracking achievement gaps and assessing the impact of NCLB on the gaps. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Civil Rights Project.
- Lipsky, D., & Gartner, A. (1996b). Inclusion, restructuring, and the remaking of American society. *Harvard Educational Review*, *6*, 762-796.
- Lynch, E. C., & Beare, P. L. (1990). The quality of IEP objectives and their relevance to instruction for students with mental retardation and behavioral disorders. *Remedial and Special Education*, 11(2), 48-55.
- Malmgren, K. W., Nagle, K., & Yunker, C. (2006). Students with disabilities and accountability reform: Challenges identified at the state and local levels. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 17(1), 28-39.
- McGlinchey, M., & Hixson, M. (2004). Using curriculum-based measurement to predict performance on state assessments in reading. *School Psychology Review*, *33*(2), 193-203.
- McNamara, K., & Telzrow, C. F. (2001). New directions in assessment for students with disabilities. *Work, 17*(2), 105-116.
- Mearman, K. (2012). Educational benefit review process: A reflective process to examine the quality of IEPs. Retrieved from http://www.ctserc.org/assets/documents/news/2013/sercedbenefit.pdf

Michigan Association of School Psychologists. (2004). Position statement on the use of the Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) for high stakes decisions for students in Michigan. Retrieved from

https://masp.wildapricot.org/Resources/.../HighStakesFullPaper2004_03_20.doc

Michigan Department of Education. (2000). 380.1280b grades 1 to 5: Yearly test or assessment. Retrieved from http://www.michigan.gov/documents/mde/School Code 152292 7 508228 7.pdf

Michigan Department of Education. (2011). MEAP: Guide to reports. Retrieved from www.michigan.gov/mde

- Michigan Department of Education. (2012). Special Education Sample Student Record Review FAPE Spring 2012 [Data file]. Retrieved from http://cims.cenmi.org/
- Michigan Department of Education. (2013). Kalkaska annual public reporting [Data file]. Retrieved from https://www.mischooldata.org/
- Michigan Department of Education. (2013). Michigan educational assessment program: 1999-2013 results and information. Retrieved from https:

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/mde/Michigan_Educational_Assessment_Program_ Results_and_Information_1999-2013_472792_7.pdf

Michigan Department of Education. (2014). Michigan student test of educational progress. Retrieved from http://www.michigan.gov/mde/0,4615,7-140-22709 70117---,00.html

Michigan Department of Treasury. (1999). Performance audit of Michigan educational assessment program. Retrieved from

http://audgen.michigan.gov/finalpdfs/00_01/r3120099.pdf.

- Nadler. B., & Shore, K. (1980). Individualized education programs: A look at realities. *Education Unlimited, 2,* 30-34.
- National Association of State Directors of Special Education. (2014). IDEA: A handy desk reference to the law, regulations, and indicators. Charlottesville, VA: Lexis Nexis Publishing Solutions Government.
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2011). The nation's report card. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pubs
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2013a). A first look: 2013 mathematics and reading. National assessment of educational progress at grades 4 and 8. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/subject/publications/main2013/pdf/2014451.pdf
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2013b). The nation's report card. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pubs
- National Council on Disability. (2004). National disability policy: A progress report. Retrieved from http://www.ncd.gov/progress_reports/Dec2004
- National Information Center for Children and Youth with Disabilities. (1994). Questions and answers on least restrictive environment (LRE) requirements of the IDEA. Retrieved from http://www.wrightslaw.com/info/lre.osers.memo.idea.htm#sthash.9m3rt4VF.dpuf
- Neuman, W. (2003). *Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Northwest Evaluation Association. (2012). Michigan linking study 2012. Retrieved from https://www.nwea.org/content/uploads/2007/05/Michigan_2012_LinkingStudy.pdf

- Office of Special Education Programs. (2011). Memorandum: Part B state performance plan (Part B - SPP) and Part B annual performance report (Part B - APR). Retrieved from www2.ed.gov/fund/data/report/idea/partbspap/index.html
- Office of Special Education Programs. (2016). Part B state performance plans (SPP) letters and annual performance report (APR) letters. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/fund/data/report/idea/partbspap

Olson, L. (2004). Enveloping expectations. Education Week, 23(17), 8-28.

- Petty, S. (2015). MEAP/MME/M-STEP. Retrieved from https://prezi.com/mimin-84kyys/meapmmem-step/
- Pretti-Frontczak, K., & Bricker, D. (2000). Enhancing the quality of individualized education plan (IEP) goals and objectives. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 23(2), 92-105.
- Price, P. (2012). Psychology research methods: Core skills and concepts. Retrieved from http://2012books.lardbucket.org/books/psychology-research-methods-coreskills-and-concepts/s11-01-overview-of-nonexperimental-re.html
- Pudelski, S. (2013). *Rethinking special education due process*. Alexandria, VA: American Association of School Administrators.
- Rehfeldt, J. D., Clark, G. M., & Lee, S. W. (2010). The effects of using the transition planning inventory and a structured IEP process as a transition planning intervention on IEP meeting outcomes. *Remedial and Special Education*, 33(1), 48-58.
- Reiher, T. C. (1992). Identified deficits and their congruence to the IEP for behaviorally disordered students. *Behavioral Disorders*, *17*(3), 167-177.

- Reschly, A., & Christenson, S. (2006). Prediction of dropout among students with mild disabilities: The case for inclusion of student engagement variables. *Remedial and Special Education*, 27(5), 276-292.
- Rosas, C., Winterman, K., Kroeger, S., & Jones, M. (2009). Using a rubric to assess individual education plans. *International Journal of Applied Educational Studies*, *4*(1), 48-58.
- Ruble, L. A., McGrew, J., Dalrymple, N., & Jung, L. A. (2010). Examining the quality of IEPs for young children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(12), 1459-1470.
- Schafer, W. D., Liu, M., & Wang, H. (2007). Content and grade trends in state assessments and NAEP. *Practical Assessment, Research and Evaluation*, *12*(9), 134-152.
- Schneck, S. J. (1980). The diagnostic/instructional link in individualized education programs. *Journal of Special Education, 14,* 337-345.
- Schrag, J. & Ahearn, E. (1998). Summary of changes related to the individualized education program (IEP) current law and 1997 amendments, including congressional committee comments. Alexandria, VA: NASDSE.
- Sharpe, M. N., & Hawes, M. E. (2003). *The intended and unintended consequences of large-scale assessments on the development of individualized education plans* (Tech.Rep. No. 1). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, Institute on Community Integration.
- Smith, S. W. (1990). Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) in special education, from intent to acquiescence. *Exceptional Children*, *57*(1), 6-14.
- Smith, S. W. (2000). Creating useful individualized educational programs. Arlington, VA; Educational Resources Information Center Clearing House on Disabilities and Gifted Education.

- Sugai, G. (1995). Case study: Designing instruction from IEPs. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *17*(3), 233-239.
- Turnbull, A., & Turnbull, R. (1997). The constitutional and programmatic grounding of IDEA. Journal of the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps, 22(2), 83-85.
- Turnbull, R. (2005). Individuals with Disabilities Education Act reauthorization: Accountability and personal responsibility. *Remedial & Special Education, 26*(6), 320-326.
- Turner, M., Baldwin, L., Kleinert, L., & Kearns, J. (2000). The relation of a statewide alternate assessment for students with severe disabilities to other measures of instructional effectiveness. *The Journal of Special Education*, 34, 69-76.
- United States Department of Education. (2000). *A guide to the individualized education program*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- United States Department of Education. (2010). *Thirty-five years of progress in educating children with disabilities through IDEA*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- United States Department of Education. (2011a). *NAEP: A primer*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- United States Department of Education. (2011b). National assessment of idea overview. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- United States Department of Education. (2013). Part B state performance plan (SPP) and annual performance report (APR) Part B indicator measurement table. Retrieved from www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/guid/idea/bapr/2006/1instructionsheet101907.pdf

United States Department of Education. (2014a). Determination letters on state implementation of IDEA. Retrieved from

http://www2.ed.gov/fund/data/report/idea/finalrev0413152014ideafactsheetdeterminations.pdf

- United States Department of Education. (2014b). New accountability framework raises the bar for state special education programs. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/news/pressreleases/new-accountability-framework-raises-bar-state-special-education-programs
- United States Department of Education. (2015a). Dear colleague letter on policy guidance on free appropriate public education. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/guid/idea/memosdcltrs/guidance-on-fape-11-17-2015.pdf
- United States Department of Education. (2015b). Determination letters on state implementation of IDEA. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/fund/data/report/idea/2015-ideafactsheet-determinations.pdf
- Yell, M. L., Katsiyannis, A., Ennis, R. P., & Losinski, M. (2013). Avoiding procedural errors in IEP development. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 46, 56-66.
- Yell, M. L., Shriner, J. G., & Katsiyannis, A. (2006). Individuals with disabilities education improvement act of 2004 and IDEA regulations of 2006: Implications for educators, administrators, and teacher trainers. *Focus on exceptional children*, 39(1), 1-24.
- Ysseldyke, J., & Nelson, J. (2004). What we know and need to know about the consequences of high-stakes testing for students with disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, *71*(1), 75-95.

- Zettel, J. J. (1977, March). Public law 94-142: The education for all handicapped children act. An overview of the federal law. Paper presented at the annual Meeting of the Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. Houston, Texas.
- Zirkel P. A., Gischlar K. L. (2008). Due process hearings under the IDEA: A longitudinal frequency analysis. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, *21*, 22-31.

Appendix A

Letter of Support



Students Today 🗉 Leaders Tomorrow

Christine Robertson, Ed.S. 17087 Biochelery Dr. Nunica, MI 49448

Kristal Elwhardt, Ph.D. Professor, Special Education Program 4811 Sangron Holl Western Michigan University Kelawaree, MI 49008-5258

Dear Ma. Robertson and Dr. Ehrhardt,

Thank you for controlling with our school district on this project to investigate the impact of procedural compliance on the IEP to student achievement on "high-stakes essessments" required by the Michigan Department of Education (MDE). As you know, we have improved the suality of our IEPS to meet MDE and ID6A standards. Our rest stop will be to determine if such improvements leads to better student. academic achievement or required assessments. The outcomes from this analysis may help us to determine best use of teacher time to ensure pacifive scademic achievement for our students.

We look forward to collaborating with you on this project.

John Sattle

John Settler Principal and RAP Team Coordinator

3455, Com15t.

Kalbeska, MI 49646

AND THE REPORT OF THE REPORT O

7.231.255.9300 F.231.258-664 www.lgochoels.com

Appendix B

State Performance Plan

Part B of the Individual with Disability Education Act - Ages 3 to 21

*Results Indicators

- Graduation Percent of youth with individualized educational programs (IEPs) graduating from high school with a regular diploma.
- 2. Dropout Percent of youth with IEPs dropping out of high school.
- Statewide Assessment -Participation and performance of children with an IEP on statewide assessments.
- 4A. Rates of Suspension and Expulsion Percent of districts that have a significant discrepancy in the rate of suspensions and expulsions of greater than 10 days in a school year for children with an IEP.
- Educational Environments: Ages 6 through 21 Percent of 6-21 year old children with an IEP served inside the regular class and in public/private separate schools, residential, homebound/hospital placements.
- Early Childhood Education Environments: Ages 3 through 5 Percent of children with an IEP aged 3 through 5 attending a regular early childhood program and in separate special education class, separate school or residential facility.
- Preschool Outcomes Percent of preschool children with an IEP aged 3 through 5 who demonstrate improved positive social-emotional skills; acquisition & use of knowledge and skills; and use of appropriate behaviors.
- Facilitated Parent Involvement Percent of parents with a child receiving special education services who report schools facilitated parent involvement.
- 14. Postsecondary Outcomes -Percent of youth who had an IEP, are no longer in secondary school and who have been employed, enrolled in higher education, or some other postsecondary education/training program within one year of leaving high school.
- Resolution Session Agreements Percent of hearing requests that went to resolution sessions that were resolved through resolution session settlement agreements.
- 16. Mediation Agreements Percent of mediations held that resulted in mediation agreements.
- State Systemic Improvement Plan (SSIP) A comprehensive, ambitious, yet achievable multi-year plan for improving results for children with disabilities.

*Results Indicators: Michigan sets measurable and rigorous targets with broad stakeholder input. Targets vary by indicator. **Compliance Indicators

- 48. Rates of Suspension and Expulsion by Race/Ethnicity Percent of districts that have a significant discrepancy, by race or ethnicity, in the rate of suspensions and expulsions of greater than 10 days in a school year for children with an IEP; and policies, procedures or practices that contribute to the significant discrepancy.
- Disproportionate Representation Child with a Disability Percent of districts with disproportionate representation of racial and ethnic groups that is a result of inappropriate identification.
- Disproportionate Representation Eligibility Categories Percent of districts with disproportionate representation of racial and ethnic groups in specific disability categories that is a result of inappropriate identification.
- Child Find (Evaluation Timelines) Percent of children with parental consent to evaluate and were evaluated within 30 school days.
- Early Childhood Transition Percent of children referred by Part C prior to age 3, who are found eligible for Part B, and had an IEP developed and implemented by their 3rd birthday.
- 13. Secondary Transition Percent of youth aged 16 and above with an IEP that includes appropriate measurable postsecondary goals that are based upon an age appropriate transition assessment and transition services.

**These compliance targets are set by the United States Department of Education at either 0% or 100%



Appendix C

Sample Student Record Review

Sample Student Record Review

Student Name:			Birthdate: [
Current Grade Level:	Pre-K K 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 0ther	Current	Race/Ethnicity:	American Indian Asian Black Hispanic White Two or More Races	Primary Disability:	Autism Spectrum Disorder Cognitive Impairment Emotional Impairment Other Health Impairment Specific Learning Disability Speech and Language Impairment Other
Reviewed By:				Da	te of Review:	······

CIMS: Continuous Improvement and Monitoring System (Parts & & C)

Page 1 of 5

tem #	Citation	Probe a set of a set	Resp	onse		
ndividu	alized Education Pro	gram (IEP)	Yes.	No	NA	Comments
1	§ 300.321(a)	The required members of the IEP team attended the IEP meeting.	0	0	0	
2	§ 300.321.(e)(1-2)	There was documentation of an excusal if a required member was not in attendance.	0	0	0	
3	§ 300.322	There was evidence of repeated attempts to invite the parent if the parent did not attend.	0	0	0	
4	§ 300.322(c)	If the parent did not attend the IEP meeting, the team used other methods to ensure parent participation.	0	0	0	
5	§ 300.503 R 340.1721b(a)(3) (Oct 2011)	The public agency provided the parent with an offer of FAPE within 7 school days from the IEP meeting.	0	0	0	.4
6	§ 300.303(b)(2)	A redetermination of eligibility IEP meeting was convened within the past 36 months.	0	0	0	
7	§ 300.324(b)	The student's previous IEP meeting was held within the past 12 months.	0	0	0	
8	§ 300.320(a)(1)	The IEP contains a statement of the student's present levels of academic achievement and functional performance (PLAAFP).	0	0	0	
9	§ 300.320(a)(1)(i)	The IEP explains how the student's disability affects the student's involvement and progress in the general education curriculum.	0	0	0	
10	§ 300.320(a)(2)(i) R 340.1721(1)(a) (Oct 2011)	There is a statement of measurable annual goals with short-term objectives, including academic and functional goals designed to meet all of the student's needs that result from the disability.	0	0	••	8

CIMS: Continuous Improvement and Monitoring System (Parts B & C)

Page 2 of 5

11	§ 300.324(a)(2)(i)	In the case of a student whose behavior impedes the student's learning or that of others, the IEP team considered the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that behavior.	0	0	0	
12	§ 300.117 § 300.320(a)(5)	The IEP explains the extent, if any, to which the student will not participate with nondisabled students in the regular class and in extracurricular services and other nonacademic activities.	0	0	0	
13	§ 300.320(a)(4)	The IEP specifies the special education programs and services the student is to receive.	0	0	0	
14	§ 300.320(a)(7)	The IEP specifies the frequency and duration of each special education program and/or service to be provided for the student.	0	0	0	
15	§ 300.320(a)(4)	The IEP team considered supplementary aids and services and/or program modifications to be implemented in the general education, special education, non-academic or extracurricular setting.	0	0	0	
16	§ 300.320(a)(7)	The IEP specifies the frequency and duration of supplementary aids and services or program modifications, or the conditions under which they will be provided.	0	0	0	D.
17	§ 300.320(a)(7)	The IEP contains the beginning and duration dates for programs and services.	0	0	0	
18	§ 300.323(c)(2)	The student's schedule matches the IEP. [Review student's schedule.]	0	0	0	
19	§ 300.323(c)(2)	The student is receiving all programs and/or services specified in the IEP. [Review service provider documentation.]	0	0	0	

CIMS: Continuous Improvement and Monitoring System (Parts B & C)

Page 3 of 5

.

	1					Office of Special Education
20	§ 300.320(a)(4)	Programs and/or services support all of the student's goals and objectives.	0	0	0	
21	§ 300.320(a)(3)(i)	The IEP contains a description of how the student's progress toward meeting the annual goals will be measured.	0	0	0	
22	§ 300.320(a)(3)(ii)	The IEP states when periodic reports on the student's progress toward meeting the annual goals will be provided.	0	0	0	
23	§ 300.320(a)(3)(ii)	There is evidence that progress reports have been provided as written in the IEP. [Review evidence.]	0	0	0	
24	§ 300.320(a)(6)(i)	The JEP includes a statement about accommodations necessary for measuring the academic and functional performance of the student on State and district-wide assessments.	0	0	0	
25	§ 300.320(a)(6)(ii)	If the student will take an alternate assessment, there is a statement about why the student Cannot participate in the regular assessment and why the particular alternate assessment selected is appropriate.	0	0	o	
26	§ 300.106 R 340.1721e(1)(b)	There is a statement documenting that extended school year services were considered.	0	0	0	

CIMS: Continuous Improvement and Monitoring System (Parts B & C)

· .. Page 4 of 5

Citation	Item of Noncompliance	Corrective Action Required	Due Date
		 Check all that apply: Review existing evaluation data. Complete a new IEP or IEP amendment Provide all programs and services specified in the IEP (or convene a new IEP or IEP amendment). Provide compensatory services. Provide progress reports to parents. Cher (Snerify) 	6/15/2012

Notes

CIMS: Continuous Improvement and Monitoring System (Parts B & C)

Page 5 of 5

.

Appendix D

MEAP and MME Score Catergories and Scale Score Ranges

MEAP Score Categories and Scale Score Ranges Fall 2011 Grades 3-9

		Level 4	Level 3	Level 2	Level 1
Subject	Grade	Not Proficient	Partially Proficient	Proficient	Advanced
	3	205 - 321	322 - 335	336 - 370	371 - 427
	4	285 - 422	423 - 433	434 - 469	470 - 554
Mathematics	5	358 - 515	516 - 530	531 - 583	584 - 671
Wathematics	6	472-613	614 - 628	629 - 674	675 - 762
	7	581 - 713	714 - 730	731 - 775	776 - 873
	8	676 - 808	809 - 829	830 - 864	865 - 961
	3	194 - 300	301 - 323	324 - 363	364 - 417
	4	285 - 394	395 - 418	419 - 477	478 - 529
Booding	5	385 - 500	501 - 520	521 - 564	565 - 631
Reading	6	491 - 601	602 - 618	619 - 652	653 - 726
	7	574 - 697	698 - 720	721 - 759	760 - 824
	8	690 - 795	796 - 817	818 - 852	853 - 921
Science	5	351-525	526-552	553-566	567-666
Science	8	665-825	826-844	845-862	863-969
	6	483-592	593-624	625-648	649-734
Social Studies	9	778-898	899-927	928-959	960-1045
	4	261-361	362 - 399	400 - 428	429 - 512
Writing	7	536 - 665	666 - 699	700 - 732	733 - 804

Michigan Merit Examination – 2012 Guide to Reports

MME Score Categories and Scale Score Ranges for Spring 2012

Subject	Level 4 Not Proficient	Level 3 Partially Proficient	Level 2 Proficient	Level 1 Advanced
Reading	(950-1080)	(1081-1107)	(1108-1140)	(1141-1250)
Writing	(950-1050)	(1051-1099)	(1100-1145)	(1146-1250)
Mathematics	(950-1092)	(1093-1115)	(1116-1137)	(1138-1250)
Science	(950-1105)	(1106-1125)	(1126-1143)	(1144-1250)
Social Studies	(950-1096)	(1097-1128)	(1129-1157)	(1158-1250)

MICHIGAN EDUCATIONAL ASSESSMENT PROGRAM

MEAP Score Categories and Scale Score Ranges Fall 2012 — Grades 3-9 Revised 5/30/2013

Level 4 Level 3 Level 2 Level 1 Not Proficient Partially Profi-Proficient Advanced Subject Grade 208 - 321 322 - 335 336 - 370 371 - 416 283 - 422 363 - 515 470 - 613 434 - 469 4 423 - 433 470 - 539 Mathemat-5 516 - 530 531 - 583 584 - 668 675 - 769 629 - 674 ics 6 614 - 628 572 - 713 714 - 730 731 - 775 776 - 863 668 - 808 188 - 300 809 - 829 301 - 323 830 - 864 324 - 363 865 - 950 364 - 423 8 3 283 - 394 395 - 418 419 - 477 478 - 537 4 385 - 500 501 - 520 521 - 564 565 - 630 5 Reading 6 490 - 601 602 - 618 619 - 652 653 - 730 574 - 697 698 - 720 721 - 759 760 - 826 688 - 795 796 - 817 818 - 852 8 853 - 921 350 - 525 526 - 552 553 - 566 567 - 668 Science 668 - 825 863 - 971 649 - 729 8 826 - 844 845 - 862 Social Stud-625 - 648 6 481 - 592 593 - 624 ies 9 778 - 898 899 - 927 928 - 959 960 - 1046 4 247 - 361 362 - 399 400 - 428 429 - 513 Writing 7 531 - 665 666 - 699 700 - 732 733 - 809

MEAP - FALL 2012

9

Guide to Reports

Michigan Merit Examination – 2013 Guide to Reports

MME Score Categories and Scale Score Ranges for Spring 2013

Subject	Level 4 Not Proficient	Level 3 Partially Proficient	Level 2 Proficient	Level 1 Advanced
Reading	(950-1080)	(1081-1107)	(1108-1140)	(1141-1250)
Writing	(950-1050)	(1051-1099)	(1100-1145)	(1146-1250)
Mathematics	(950-1092)	(1093-1115)	(1116-1137)	(1138-1250)
Science	(950-1105)	(1106-1125)	(1126-1143)	(1144-1250)
Social Studies	(950-1096)	(1097-1128)	(1129-1157)	(1158-1250)

MICHIGAN EDUCATIONAL ASSESSMENT PROGRAM

MEAP Score Categories and Scale Score Ranges Fall 2013 — Grades 3-9

Revised 2/20/2014

		Level 4	Level 3	Level 2	Level 1
Subject	Grade	Not Proficient	Partially Proficient	Proficient	Advanced
	3	203 - 321	322 - 335	336 - 370	371 - 412
	4	284 - 422	423 - 433	434 - 469	470 - 549
Mathematics	5	366 - 515	516 - 530	531 - 583	584 - 665
Mathematics	6	467 - 613	614 - 628	629 - 674	675 - 760
	7	571 - 713	714 - 730	731 - 775	776 - 863
	8	674 - 808	809 - 829	830 - 864	865 - 958
	3	189 - 300	301 - 323	324 - 363	364 - 439
	4	283 - 394	395 - 418	419 - 477	478 - 531
Deading	5	385 - 500	501 - 520	521 - 564	565 - 633
Reading	6	488 - 601	602 - 618	619 - 652	653 - 730
	7	574 - 697	698 - 720	721 - 759	760 - 829
	8	685 - 795	796 - 817	818 - 852	853 - 921
Colores	5	349 - 525	526 - 552	553 - 566	567 - 666
Science	8	666 - 825	826 - 844	845 - 862	863 - 968
Cooled Chudles	6	481 - 592	593 - 624	625 - 648	649 - 737
Social Studies	9	778 - 898	899 - 927	928 - 959	960 - 1050
Multime	4	252 - 361	362 - 399	400 - 428	429 - 514
writing	7	526 - 665	666 - 699	700 - 732	733 - 814

MEAP - FALL 2013

9

Guide to Reports

Michigan Merit Examination – 2014 Guide to Reports

MME Score Categories and Scale Score Ranges for Spring 2014

Subject	Level 4 Not Proficient	Level 3 Partially Proficient	Level 2 Proficient	Level 1 Advanced
Reading	(950-1080)	(1081-1107)	(1108-1140)	(1141-1250)
Writing	(950-1050)	(1051-1099)	(1100-1145)	(1146-1250)
Mathematics	(950-1092)	(1093-1115)	(1116-1137)	(1138-1250)
Science	(950-1105)	(1106-1125)	(1126-1143)	(1144-1250)
Social Studies	(950-1096)	(1097-1128)	(1129-1157)	(1158-1250)

Appendix E

Linking Study

TABLE SET 1 - MINIMUM ESTIMATED SAME-SEASON (FALL) RIT CUT SCORES CORRESPONDING TO STATE PERFORMANCE LEVELS

	MATH-Current Season									
Cut Scores and Percentiles for each State Performance Level										
Grade	Not Proficient	Partially I	Proficient	Profi	cient	Advanced				
	Cut Score	Cut Score	Percen- tile	Cut Score	Percen- tile	Cut Score	Percen- tile			
2	<171	171	29	181	59	203	97			
3	<185	185	29	195	59	215	97			
4	<198	198	33	204	51	222	92			
5	<205	205	29	212	47	232	91			
6	<212	212	31	222	56	243	94			
7	<219	219	35	228	56	247	90			
8	<223	223	34	237	66	255	93			

	READING-Current Season									
Cut Scores and Percentiles for each State Performance Level										
Grade	Not Proficient	Partially P	Proficient	Profi	cient	Advanced				
	Cut Score	Cut Score	Percen- tile	Cut Score	Percen- tile	Cut Score	Percen- tile			
2	<152	152	6	170	35	192	86			
3	<166	166	6	184	35	206	86			
4	<178	178	6	192	29	217	89			
5	<188	188	9	199	28	221	84			
6	<196	196	13	205	31	221	73			
7	<200	200	13	212	38	227	77			
8	<201	201	11	217	44	236	87			

*Note: the cut scores shown in this table are the **minimum** estimated scores. Meeting the minimum MAP cut score corresponds to a 50% probability of achieving that performance level. Use the probabilities in Table Set 3 to determine the appropriate 'target' scores for a desired level of certainty. Italics represent extrapolated data.

Appendix F

IEP Goal Checklist

Goal alignment

- 34 CFR 300.320 through 300.324, and that must include:
- *A statement of the child's present levels of academic achievement and functional performance...
- * A statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals designed to:
- *Meet the child's needs that result from the child's disability to enable the child to be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum; and
- *Meet each of the child's other educational needs that result from the child's disability;

Answer yes (+) of no (O) to the following questions:

Is the instructional area aligned with the student's grade level?

Is the standard upon which the goal will be based at the student's grade level?

Is the measurable annual goal based upon the student's grade level?

Goal	Instructional Area	Standard upon which the goal will be based	Measurable annual goal

Appendix G

MDE Recommended IEP Goal Form

Page 10 of 14

Section 4: Option I Goals and Objectives/Benchmarks

Instructional Area-List the appropriate content area (e.g., strand/domain):						
Michigan Content Expectations Upon Which Goal Will Be Based—List the appropriate GLCE, EGLCE, HSCE, EHSCE, or Early Childhood Standards of Quality for Pre-kindergarten:						
Baseline Data						
The student is currently	(data)	on the		(seconert)		
Annual Goal By, the student wil	(demonstrate skill)	hen/at(4	on anditions criteria)	(assessment/evaluation)		
Short-Term Objective/Benchmark: Performance Criteria: Evaluation Procedure: Evaluation Schedule:						
Status Date: Progress Toward Annual Goal: Comments:		Status D Progress Commer	late: : Toward Annual Goal: :ta:	·		
Status Date: Progress Toward Annual Goal: Comments:		Status D Progress Commer	iste: Toward Annual Goal: nts:	·		
Short-Term Objective/Benchmark: Performance Criteria: Evaluation Procedure: Evaluation Schedule:						
Status Date: Procress Toward Annual Goal: Comments:		Status D Progress Commer	iste: Toward Annual Goal: its:	L		
Status Date: Prooress Toward Annual Goal: Comments:		Status D Progress Commer	ate: Toward Annual Goal: ita:	:		
SCHEDULE FOR REPORTING PROGRESS						
When:						
Position(s) responsible for implement Special Education Teacher School Social Worker Other:	ting goal activities (check all	that apply	/): Speech and Lang Physical Therapis	uage Provider t		
Poston(s) responsible for reporting progress on goal:						

Michigan Department of Education, Office of Special Education OSE Model Form IEF 006

August 2015 Appendix H

HSIRB Approval

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

Human Subjects Institutional Review Board

Date: October 19, 2016

To: Kristal Ehrhardt, Principal Investigator Christine Robertson, Student Investigator for dissertation

From: Amy Naugle, Ph.D., Chair My Naugle

Re: HSIRB Project Number 16-10-39

This letter will serve as confirmation that your research project titled "The Impact of Procedural Compliance to the IEP Document on Student Achievement and Academic Benchmarks" has been **approved** under the **exempt** category of review by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board. The conditions and duration of this approval are specified in the Policies of Western Michigan University. You may now begin to implement the research as described in the application.

Please note: This research may **only** be conducted exactly in the form it was approved. You must seek specific board approval for any changes in this project (e.g., *you must request a post approval change to enroll subjects beyond the number stated in your application under "Number of subjects you want to complete the study*)." Failure to obtain approval for changes will result in a protocol deviation. In addition, if there are any unanticipated adverse reactions or unanticipated events associated with the conduct of this research, you should immediately suspend the project and contact the Chair of the HSIRB for consultation.

Reapproval of the project is required if it extends beyond the termination date stated below.

The Board wishes you success in the pursuit of your research goals.

Approval Termination: October 18, 2017

1903 W. Michigan Ave., Kalamazoo, MI 49008-5456 рноме: (269) 387-8293 гах: (269) 387-8276

CAMPUS SITE: 251 W. Walwood Hall